



2010

ILO Skills and Employability Department NQF Country Study - e-version

From old to new: The Australian Qualifications Framework

Leesa Wheelahan Senior Lecturer in Adult and Vocational Education Griffin University

> Skills and Employability Department

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2010 First published 2010

Publications of the International Labour Office enjoy copyright under Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. Nevertheless, short excerpts from them may be reproduced without authorization, on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to ILO Publications (Rights and Permissions), International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland, or by email: pubdroit@ilo.org. The International Labour Office welcomes such applications.

Libraries, institutions and other users registered with reproduction rights organizations may make copies in accordance with the licences issued to them for this purpose. Visit http://www.ifrro.org to find the reproduction rights organization in your country.

ILO Cataloguing in Publication Data

Wheelahan, Leesa

From old to new: the Australian qualifications framework / Leesa Wheelahan; International Labour Office, Skills and Employability Department. - Geneva: ILO, 2010

1 v.

ISBN: 9789221242406 (web pdf)

International Labour Office; Skills and Employability Dept

occupational qualification / skill certification / vocational education / vocational training / Australia

13.02.2

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Labour Office concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office of the opinions expressed in them.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the International Labour Office, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

ILO publications and electronic products can be obtained through major booksellers or ILO local offices in many countries, or direct from ILO Publications, International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. Catalogues or lists of new publications are available free of charge from the above address, or by email: pubvente@ilo.org

Visit our website: http://www.ilo.org/publns or http://www.ilo.org/skills

e-version – not available in print form

The Skills and Employability Department's e-versions of country studies on NQFs are designed to disseminate its main findings of research initiatives, which are intended to encourage exchange of ideas and to stimulate debate. The views expressed are the responsibility of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the ILO.

Foreword

According to an ILO survey, some 70 countries are in the process of developing or implementing some kind of a qualifications framework. A framework is intended to improve understanding of qualifications (degrees, certificates, or recognition of experiential-based learning) in terms of the information they convey to an employer about prospective workers' competencies. Frameworks are also intended to explain how qualifications relate to each other and thus can be combined to build pathways within and across occupations and education and training sectors. Many countries are trying to improve the relevance, quality and flexibility of their education and training systems, and many of them are looking to qualification frameworks as a tool for bringing about this reform. Development of national qualification frameworks (NQFs) are also motivated by the emergence of regional frameworks, such as in Europe or in the Caribbean, which aim to help employers and institutions of higher education recognize the equivalency of qualifications earned in different countries. With these goals in mind, the development of NQFs has been widely supported by multilateral and bilateral agencies.

However, very little has been documented about the effectiveness of NQFs in bringing about change in skills development systems or about their actual use by employers, workers, and training providers. In 2009, the ILO's Skills and Employability Department launched its Qualifications Framework Research Project to study the impact and implementation of NQFs in developing countries to help fill this knowledge gap and to be able to provide more evidence-based advice to member States.

The research programme, comprising some 16 country case studies and a review of academic literature on the NQFs, provides an international comparison of the design and purpose of NQFs in developing countries and an empirical analysis of their use and impact based on the experience of those involved in their design and use. The study aims to understand to what extent establishing an NQF is the best strategy for achieving a country's desired policy objectives, what approaches to qualifications frameworks and their implementation are most appropriate in which contexts and for which purposes, what level of resources (human and other) and what complimentary policies might be required to achieve the policy objectives associated with them, and what might be a realistic assessment of the likely outcomes.

This paper is one of five case studies conducted as part of the research and appears as a chapter in Employment Working Paper No. 45 done in 2009, Learning from the first qualifications frameworks, which consisted of: Chapter 1 on the National Vocational Qualifications in England, Northern Ireland and Wales, written by Professor Michael Young (Emeritus Professor at the Institute of Education, University of London); Chapter 2 on the NQF in Scotland, written by David Raffe (Professor of Sociology of Education, University of Edinburgh); Chapter 3 on the NQF in New Zealand, written by Dr. Rob Strathdee (Head of School of Education Policy and Implementation at the University of Wellington); Chapter 4, written by Leesa Wheelahan (Senior Lecturer in Adult and Vocational Education, Griffith University); and Chapter 5, written by Stephanie Allais (now postdoctoral fellow at the University of Edinburgh). A companion Working Paper (No. 44) (Allais et al. 2009), Researching NQFs: Some conceptual issues, addresses some of the fundamental conceptual issues involved in research on NQFs in order to broaden the debate about their role in skills systems. A full analysis of the new case studies and the policy lessons derived from them was published in 2010 as The implementation and impact of National Qualifications Frameworks: Report of a study in 16 countries, which, along with other background reports and publications, can be found on the Skills and Employability Department website's theme of ILO research programme on implementation

and impact of NQFs at: http://www.ilo.org/skills/what/projects/lang--en/WCMS_126588/index.htm.

As a Research Associate in the Skills and Employability Department in 2009, Dr. Stephanie Allais has led the development of the research and overseen the country studies. Professor Michael Young has served as senior research advisor, and Professor David Raffe gave advice and support to the project. The research programme has been carried out in cooperation with the European Training Foundation. I would also like to thank Jo-Ann Bakker for preparing the manuscript for publication.

Christine Evans-Klock Director Skills and Employability Department

Acronyms and abbreviations

EFTSL

ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics
ACE Adult and Community Education
ACTU Australian Council for Trade Unions
ANTA Australian National Training Authority
APEL accreditation of experiential learning
AQF Australian Qualifications Framework

AQFAB Australian Qualifications Framework Advisory Board (replaced by the

AQFC in May 2008)

AQFC Australian Qualifications Framework Council
AQTF Australian Quality Training Framework
ARF Australian Recognition Framework
AUQA Australian Universities Quality Agency
CAEs Colleges of Advanced Education
CBT Competency-based training

CEDEFOP European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training

COAG Council of Australian Governments

CRICOS Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses CTEC Commonwealth Tertiary Education Commission

DEEWR Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (the

Commonwealth department with responsibility for education and

training, among other things)

DEST Department of Education Science and Training (the Commonwealth

Department with responsibility for education and training under the

conservative Howard Government). Equivalent Full-Time Student Loads European Qualifications Framework

EQF European Qualifications Framework
ESFC Employment and Skills Formation Council

ET Education and training
ETF European Training Foun

ETF European Training Foundation
HECS Higher Education Contribution Scheme

HEP Higher Education Provider ISCs Industry Skills Councils

ITABs Industry Training Advisory Bodies

MCEEDYA Ministerial Council for Education, Early Childhood Development and

Youth Affairs

MCEETYA Ministerial Council for Education, Employment, Training and Youth

Affairs

MCTEE Ministerial Council for Tertiary Education and Employment
MCVTE Ministerial Council for Vocational and Technical Education
NBEET National Board of Employment, Education and Training
NCVER National Centre for Vocational Education Research
NFROT National Framework for the Recognition of Training

NISC National Industry Skills Council
NQC National Quality Council

NQFs national qualifications frameworks

NTB National Training Board

NVQs National Vocational Qualifications

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

RPL Recognition of prior learning
RTO Registered Training Organization

TAFE Technical and Further Education (institutes that are the public

providers of VET)

TAPEC Technical and Further Education Council

TEQSA Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency

VET vocational education and training

VRQA Victorian Registration and Qualifications Authority

ZMTs zones of mutual trust



Contents

rewordi			
Acronyms and abbreviations	v		
From old to new: The Australian Qualifications Framework	1		
1. Introduction	1		
2. Setting the context 1: Australia in a nutshell	3		
The qualifications profile of Australians and participation in learning The labour market and qualifications	3		
3. Setting the context 2: Broader policy, government, and education sectors	8		
Government			
The contradiction at the heart of Australia's education sectors	11		
Higher education			
Vocational education and training (VET)			
and what happens in practice			
Schools			
Summary	21		
4. The Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF)	22		
Origins of the AQF: Intrinsic and institutional logics	22		
Structure and design of the AQF and outcomes	23		
Outcomes: Educational pathways	25		
Outcomes: qualifications and employment	26		
Frameworks to support pathways	27		
Strengths and weaknesses	27		
5. The future 'stronger' AQF	29		
Acknowledgement	31		
References	33		
Appendix: Key dates and events in Australia	43		



From old to new: The Australian Qualifications Framework

1. Introduction

The Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF) is a 'first generation' qualifications framework (Tuck 2007, p. 1) that was established in 1995. Its purpose was to create 'a comprehensive, nationally consistent yet flexible framework for all qualifications in post-compulsory education and training' (AQFAB 2007, p. 1). It encompasses all post-compulsory qualifications in Australia, which includes: senior school certificates, vocational education and training (VET) qualifications and higher education qualifications. It is often portrayed as a good example of a relatively 'weak' or 'loose' qualifications framework because it does not have a direct role in accrediting qualifications or in quality assurance. Jack Keating (2003, p. 16) explains that the influence of the AQF 'depends upon the willingness of the powerful partners to use it as a framework to advance reforms'. This has been both a strength and a weakness of the AQF. It has had most impact on VET where it has been pivotal in creating a national VET system and nationally-recognized VET qualifications, but its influence has been less in universities and difficult to discern in the senior school certificates (Keating 2008b).

All this is set to change. In November 2007, the previous conservative National Government was voted out after 11 years and a Labor Government was elected. The Australian Labor Party (2007a, p. 5) promised to inaugurate an 'education revolution', so that Australia would 'become the most educated country, the most skilled economy and the best trained workforce in the world.' Among other things, it created a new governing body for the AQF – the Australian Qualifications Framework Council (AQFC) which will be situated within a new, stronger national regulatory body that will first have responsibility for higher education and later for VET (Commonwealth of Australia 2009). The AQFC has been asked by the Government to advise on how the AQF can be strengthened and made more 'robust' (Gillard 2009c). The AQFC (2009) is currently undertaking a public consultation on how best it may do this. It is clear that the new AQF will almost certainly be based on a taxonomy of learning outcomes, explicit levels and a measure of volume (or time) of learning. As we will see, this 'architecture' is more extensive than the existing AQF. While these changes do not necessarily mean that the AQF will have a greater regulatory role, broader policy means that it almost certainly will do so.² The new Labor

¹ While this remains true, it has begun to have a more regulatory role indirectly through other mechanisms. This will be discussed later in this paper. See Keating (2000; 2003, p. 279), Young (2005, p. 13), Tuck (2007, p. 32) for a discussion of Australia's designation as a weak/enabling framework.

² This is also signalled by the composition of the new AQFC. The Government has appointed John Dawkins as the Chair of the new AQFC. Dawkins was the Labor Education Minister in the late 1980s who was responsible for the unification of the higher education system which merged colleges of advanced education with universities, and the creation of a national VET system based on competency-based training models of curriculum. The transformation of both tertiary education sectors is referred to in short-hand as 'the Dawkins reforms'. So when Dawkins (2009) says that,

Government is developing tighter regulatory and accountability arrangements for *all* sectors of post-compulsory education, and not just VET, and the strengthening of the AQF is part of that process.

This paper thus tries to capture an important time of transition in Australia as it moves from a relatively weak qualifications framework to a stronger one. It argues that there is a fundamental tension at the heart of the AQF that arises because VET qualifications are based on competency-based training models of curriculum, while higher education qualifications and senior school certificates are based on in-put models of curriculum. This has limited its effectiveness in implementing one of its key objectives, which is to facilitate student transfers, pathways and credit transfer between education sectors. The AQF's limited success in achieving this objective is one of the problems that the current review is trying to solve. The Chair of the AQFC, John Dawkins, explains that:

Our goal should be to create greater synergy between the sectors, optimise entrance pathways and transferability between the sectors – bridging academia and VET with student flows and outcomes enhancing the workforce capacity across Australia. (Dawkins 2009)

The strengthened AQF will contribute to clearer relationships between qualifications, and it will also, in different ways, pressure all sectors of post-compulsory education and training to do things differently so that there is greater alignment between them. However, it is not clear that the current mooted reforms to the AQF will solve the contradiction between two models of curriculum that are, as it will be argued, incommensurable. This paper will also argue that the AQF needs reform as part of wider changes to education policy, but that the options presented in the AQFC's consultation paper may create problems if the outcome is a unified 'tight' qualifications framework in contrast to a unified 'loose' framework that is supported by 'policy breadth' (Raffe 2005).

Structure of the paper

Section 2 of this paper provides the broader context for the AQF by outlining key features of Australian society, educational participation in and outcomes from education, and the relationship between qualifications and the labour market. Section 3 outlines the broader policy in which the AQF was developed and Australia's federal structure of government and responsibilities for education. It also presents a brief and outline of the higher education, VET and school sectors and it concludes with a discussion of the trajectory of policy. Section 4 outlines the origins, development, nature and structure of the AQF and presents an outline of educational outcomes in which the AQF has played a role. It also discusses the strengths and weaknesses of the AQF and explains why it is now being reviewed. Finally, Section 5 discusses the future of the AQF.

^{&#}x27;The proposal to include the AQF within the proposed new regulatory body may lead to its wider observance', this is understood to mean that it will result in this outcome.

2. Setting the context 1: Australia in a nutshell

Australia has a population of almost 22 million people.³ Before British colonization in 1778 it was, for at least 50,000 years, home to its culturally, socially and linguistically diverse Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.⁴ Australia was not constituted as one nation until 1901 when the six British colonies joined in one federation and it now has six States and two Territories. It is a land of immigrants, with about one quarter of all Australians born overseas (ABS 2008a). It is a vast dry island-continent where the culturally diverse population is mostly concentrated in large cities on the coasts. Australia is rich in natural resources and it was experiencing a sustained economic boom until the recent global financial crisis (Knight and Mlotkowski 2009, p. 12). This prosperity is demonstrated by the fact that, when adjusted for inflation and population growth, Australia now produces over 50 per cent more goods and services than it did 15 years ago (Buchanan et al. 2009, p. 7). However, this prosperity is not evenly distributed over households as those who live in capital cities earn more than those who live elsewhere, and the wealthiest 20 per cent of the population have 61 per cent of household wealth, while the bottom 20 per cent have 1 per cent of household wealth (ABS 2008b, pp. 276, 279).

The qualifications profile of Australians and participation in learning

The rate of retention for students completing secondary school was just over 74 per cent in 2007, and this has not changed substantially since 1997 when it was just below 72 per cent (ABS 2008d, p. 4). The recent Review of Australian Higher Education notes that this compares well to an OECD average (in 2005) of 69 per cent, but it argues that this is still well below the top six performing OECD countries (Bradley 2008, pp. 17, 19). Most Australian State Governments have increased or will increase the school leaving age from around 15-16 years to 17 years, and students will have to be 'earning or learning' in school, training or work.

The proportion of Australians holding a non-school qualification has grown over the last 10 years, and around 54 per cent of the population aged between 15 and 64 years held a non-school qualification in 2008 compared to 42 per cent in 1998 (ABS 2008c, p. 3). The greatest growth was in the group with a bachelor degree or above as their prior highest qualification, while there was a slower rate of growth in the group with an advanced diploma/diploma or below as their highest qualification (ABS 2007b, p. 1). Non-school qualifications below advanced diplomas/diplomas are certificates IV, certificates III, certificates II and certificates I.

Some 22 per cent of those aged between 15 and 64 years in 2008 held a bachelor degree or above as their highest qualification, with this rising to 32 per cent for those aged between 25-34 years (ABS 2008a, Table 14). Australia has slipped in the percentage of its population aged between 25-34 years with a bachelor degree or above from seventh place in the OECD in 1996 to ninth place in 2006. Its percentage of this age group with a degree is

³ Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs%40.nsf/94713ad445ff1425ca25682000192af2/1647509ef7e25fa aca2568a900154b63?OpenDocument [10 June 2009].

⁴ See http://www.culture.gov.au/articles/indigenous/ [11 June 2009].

similar to the OECD average, but is rather less than the top six OECD countries (Bradley 2008, p. 18).

In 2008, some 31 per cent of those aged between 15-64 years held an advanced diploma/diploma or below as their highest qualification (ABS 2008a, p. 3). The most common non-school qualifications (in 2007) held by men were certificates I-IV (31 per cent) and bachelor degrees or above (23 per cent), while 25 per cent of women held a bachelor degree or above and 19 per cent held a certificate I-IV. The Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS 2007b: 1) explains that this pattern reflects the gendered segregation of Australian occupations, with women less likely to work in occupations requiring a vocational qualification than men (such as the industrial trades which require traditional apprenticeships).

In a pattern that is typical of most countries (Santiago et al. 2008), those least likely to finish school in Australia and undertake the senior school certificate are students from low socio-economic status (SES) backgrounds. They are also over-represented among those undertaking VET-in-schools subjects as part of their senior school certificate (Teese et al. 2006). High SES students are far more likely to go to university whereas low SES students are more likely to go to vocational education and training (VET). Low SES students are around 15-16 per cent of all higher education students (and have been so since at least the early 1990s) whereas if they reflected their share of the Australian population they should be 25 per cent (CSHE 2008). Low SES students are over-represented in VET but they are most over-represented in lower-level VET qualifications, while they are only 20 per cent of students in VET diplomas and advanced diplomas (Foley 2007). VET diplomas and advanced diplomas are the main qualifications used by VET students to gain access to degrees, and one consequence is that these pathways deepen participation in higher education by existing social groups, but they do not widen participation for underrepresented disadvantaged students (Wheelahan 2009c). This is so even though a key objective of the AQF is to promote equity through providing disadvantaged students with access to higher education via VET pathways.

Participation by adults in formal, non-formal and informal learning in Australia is high by international standards. The ABS (2007a, p. 3) defines formal learning as structured learning taught in institutions and organizations (including workplaces) if it leads to a formal qualification within the AQF. Non-formal learning is structured, taught learning that does not lead to an AQF qualification. Informal learning refers to unstructured, noninstitutionalized learning related to work, family, community or leisure. Some 12 per cent of Australians aged between 25-64 years reported participating in formal learning in 2007, while 30 per cent participated in non-formal learning, and 74 per cent participated in some form of informal learning. Younger adults were more likely to participate in formal learning, while similar numbers in all age groups participated in non-formal and informal learning, except for those aged between 60-64 years. Participation in all forms of learning rises with level of educational qualification so that those with a bachelor degree or above had higher levels of participation in all forms of learning compared to those with lowerlevel qualifications or those who do not have non-school qualifications. Similarly, those in full-time employment had higher levels of participation in some form of learning (84 per cent), which was similar to those in part-time work (82 per cent), but more than those who

_

⁵ However, while full-time workers had similar levels of participation in formal learning compared to part-time workers, they had higher levels of participation in non-formal learning; 38 and 29.5 per cent respectively.

were unemployed (76 per cent) and those not in the labour force (62 per cent) (ibid., Table 1). Higher income earners also had higher levels of participation in all forms of learning than those on lower incomes.

The Australian Government has established new targets for participating in and completing schooling, VET qualifications and higher education qualifications. These are to:

- increase the proportion of the population aged 25-34 years with a degree from 32 per cent in 2008 to 40 per cent by 2025;
- halve the proportion of Australians aged 20 to 64 years without a certificate level III qualification by 2020;
- double the number of VET higher qualification completions (diplomas and advanced diplomas) by 2020;
- raise the proportion of young people achieving Year 12 or an equivalent qualification from 74 per cent in 2007 to 90 per cent by 2015;
- increase the percentage of students from low socio-economic backgrounds in universities from around 15-16 per cent in 2007 to 20 per cent by 2020; and,
- halve the gap for Indigenous students in Year 12 or equivalent attainment by 2020 (Commonwealth of Australia 2009, p. 12).

The Government says that Australia must meet these targets if it is to remain competitive in the international economy and if it is to become more equitable and socially inclusive. Australia's Deputy Prime Minister and Education Minister, Julia Gillard (2009b), argues that 'upskilling' is more urgent in the global economic crisis than it was when Labor's education policies were first formulated during the economic boom. The Government is introducing a range of policies that it hopes will alleviate some of the worst effects of the economic crisis on young people which includes the guarantee of a training place for those aged under 25 years, and access to income support benefits will be conditional on participation in training (Rudd 2009). This is consistent with the Government's broader 'welfare to work' policies that make training a requirement for those on benefits. However the effectiveness of these policies has been questioned with Lim (2008) arguing that they are a policy-tightening exercise rather than a labour market policy aimed at enhancing the skills of welfare benefit recipients. Barnett and Spoehr (2008) argue that current policies do not adequately distinguish between training for short-term, insecure employment and that required for high quality employment.

The 2008 Review of Australian Higher Education commissioned economic modelling that showed that Australia would experience a substantial under-supply of graduates with degrees and advanced diplomas/diplomas over the next decade and this is informing Government policy (Bradley 2008, p. 16). A contributory factor is, as it is in many other developed nations, the aging of population (Knight and Mlotkowski 2009, p. 13). Consequently, policy is concerned with increasing the retention of older workers in employment and with increasing their skills, particularly as they are less likely to have finished school or hold post-school qualifications (Karmel 2008a). The objective of these

5

⁶ However, there are arguments that there is no need to be overly alarmist about impending skill shortages, and that business cycles could have a greater impact on skill shortages than demographic trends (Karmel 2009a).

policies on retaining older workers and increasing the percentage of young people who finish school and obtain non-school qualifications is to ensure Australia does not experience the same kind of skill shortages as it had during the economic boom.

Arguments by Government to increase the percentage of the population with higher-level qualifications are also linked to its social inclusion policy because those with higher level qualifications are more likely to have jobs and higher rates of pay (Gillard 2009d). However, social inclusion is understood as inclusion in the labour market as the basis for social participation in a marketised society, and this is not the same as arguments about distributive justice which are concerned with socially just outcomes of education as the basis for broader social, civic and political concerns. Knight and Mlotkowski (2009, p. 22) explain that:

[... the human capital model] ... in Australia has become the dominant way of thinking about the links between education and training and the labour market. Under this model, education and training are seen as an investment in an individual's productive capacity, and are motivated by an expectation of a return on that investment.

The labour market and qualifications

Keating (2008a, p. 9) explains that compared to Australia, 'most OECD countries have a larger percentage of their workforce in the manufacturing sectors and lower levels of casual employment.' There has been a shift in Australia towards more highly-skilled jobs at the expense of middle-ranking skilled jobs in areas such as the trades and advanced clerical and service jobs, while the share of less-skilled jobs has fallen only slightly (Cully 2008, pp. 5-6). Where there has been growth in low-skilled occupations, it has been in service work and support tasks which have been 'created by knowledge workers' demand for services which previously would have been provided within the household' (Cully 2008, p. 6). In Australia, as in some other Anglophone countries, participation rates by women have increased; union membership and award protection have declined as a result of deregulated markets and government policies to weaken union powers; the labour market has become increasingly casualized (van Wanrooy et al. 2007); and there is more heterogeneity in work arrangements with those working the 'standard' full-time week now in the minority (Cully 2008, p. 4). Pocock (2009, p. 10) explains that 'in 2007, 24.1 per cent of Australian workers were employed for 20 hours or less per week, compared to 15.4 per cent in the OECD as a whole'. Keating (2008a, p. 9) contrasts Australia's labour market with more regulated European labour markets that have 'regulations or sectoral agreements specifying the types and levels of qualifications required for occupations and industry job types.' He also explains that many other countries have a stronger emphasis on VET in secondary schools and orient their school-based VET systems to industry areas.

The 'fit' between qualifications in the VET and higher education sectors in Australia and the occupational destinations for which students are being prepared is very loose, except for the trades and other regulated occupations (such as electrician and physician) (Karmel et al. 2008). Moreover, the labour market destinations of VET and higher education graduates have become less differentiated with graduates from VET advanced diplomas/diplomas often competing with bachelor degree graduates for the same positions, and in many industries diplomas are being replaced by degrees as the entry level qualification (Foster et al. 2007; Karmel and Cully 2009). However, Karmel and Cully (2009, p. 10) explain that:

... apart from the licensed occupations (particularly the professions and some of the trades), employers rarely require job applicants to hold a non-school qualification.... They are much more likely to specify a set of skills and personal attributes they expect an individual to have. Another way of putting this is that, while all jobs can be assigned into an occupation, the

extent of pure occupational labour markets - those characterised by a required qualification - is limited.

Overall, when specific, rather than broad, occupational areas are considered, around 37 per cent of VET student graduates in 2007 reported that they were working in the occupation associated with their VET qualification and this varied extensively by occupational field, ranging from around 14 per cent for managers to almost 61 per cent for technicians and trades. A further 41 per cent reported that their training was relevant or highly relevant to their job, while 21 per cent reported that their training had little relevance (Karmel et al. 2008: 19). Knight and Mlotkowski (2009, p. 24) cite research that shows that '57.8 per cent of workers report that their skills and abilities are well matched to their current job, while 30.6 per cent report to being moderately over-skilled, and 11.5 per cent report to being severely over-skilled.'

The extent to which employers engage with VET varies by industry and by size of employer. Stanwick (2009) shows that about 54 per cent of employers used the VET system to a greater or lesser extent in 2007. Larger firms are more likely to engage in training than small firms, and this also varies by the extent to which specific industries require employees to have vocational qualifications, or where there are regulatory, licensing or occupational health and safety requirements. In 2007, some 33 per cent of employers reported that they had jobs requiring vocational qualifications; 22 per cent reported that they used nationally-recognized (accredited) training; 29 per cent employed apprentices or trainees; 49 per cent reported using unaccredited (non-formal) training, 71 per cent reported using informal training, and 14 per cent reported using no training (Knight and Mlotkowski 2009, Table 17).

Cully (2005, p. 8) says that employers are aware of VET, but they find it too complex. This is a particular problem for small- and medium-sized firms, but even large firms find it difficult to navigate the system. Those that are most successful in doing so are firms with staff who had formal responsibility for training. However, almost 81 per cent employers with jobs requiring vocational qualifications were satisfied with VET in meeting their skill needs (NCVER 2008b). Karmel and Cully make the point that government funding and incentives help to shape employer training practices. They argue that while employer subsidies for trainees increased from 1997 to 2005:

... the number of hours of employer-provided training per working hour fell by 22%, at the same time as existing worker traineeships came to account for around a third of trainee commencements. This suggests that some government incentives do not actually increase the level of training to a large degree. (Karmel and Cully 2009, p. 10)

Employers' engagement with VET training is only a small component of all VET, as it is with higher education. In 2005, the majority of students studying non-school qualifications were studying on their own behalf, with 21 per cent of students studying a

⁷ The match between the intended destination of the qualification and students' actual destination was much higher among those undertaking apprenticeships and traineeships (overall at 60.7 per cent at the specific rather than broad group level), but even here there was great variation. It ranged from 11.7 per cent for managers to 84.6 per cent for technicians and trades workers (Karmel et al. 2008, p. 13).

⁸ 'Existing worker traineeships' are traineeships which are undertaken by staff already employed at the firm.

non-school qualification receiving financial support from an employer. In VET overall, around 30 per cent of students received financial support from an employer, including 21 per cent for those undertaking an advanced diploma/diploma; almost 40 per cent of those undertaking a certificate III/IV; and 10 per cent of those undertaking a certificate I/II. The peak at certificate III/IV is because most apprenticeships are at this level. In contrast, only 7 per cent of those undertaking a bachelor degree received support from an employer, but this rose to 28 per cent for those undertaking a graduate diploma/certificate and 23 per cent of those undertaking a post-graduate degree. Many graduate diploma/certificates and many course-work masters are strongly vocational and people often undertake these qualifications as part of their professional 'upskilling' (ABS 2005, Table 4).

The way in which individuals, governments, businesses and others in society who have an interest in the outcomes of education engage with education is mediated by Australia's system of government and the structures of Australia's sectors of education. It is to this that we now turn.

3. Setting the context 2: Broader policy, government, and education sectors

The structure and nature of Australian education has changed profoundly over the last 20 years. Raffe (2002, p. 9) explains that common global trends have given rise to similar pressures for the convergence of vocational and general education in post-16 education, and to '...a common policy rhetoric: the knowledge economy, lifelong learning, parity of esteem, flexibility of pathways, and so on.' The reforms to Australian education have much in common with other Anglophone nations and there has been considerable policy migration and policy borrowing between them based on their similarly-structured labour markets and the commitment by Anglophone governments to neo-liberal market principles and policies (Priestley 2002). Anglophone nations redefined the purpose of education as serving the needs of the economy so that education 'was seen as crucial to economic competitiveness, mobilised for economic reconstruction, and embedded in micro-economic reform, corporatization and marketization' (Marginson 1997, p. 151).

Anglophone governments believe that markets are the best way to deliver services because competition (putatively) makes providers of goods and services more responsive to customer needs. Consequently, according to this perspective, education should be a market to reduce so-called 'producer capture' by education institutions and to elicit competitive and entrepreneurial behaviour from them to ensure they are responsive to 'client' needs. Governments proclaim that the aim of these reforms is to make education 'demand led' by students and employers rather than 'user led' by educational institutions (Young and Allais 2009, p. 2). However, despite the sustained implementation of these policies over at least 20 years, there is little evidence that they have succeeded and, in particular, it is difficult to find any research that demonstrates that fully contestable markets in education have achieved the outcomes sought by government (Wheelahan 2009b). 10

⁹ The ABS very unhelpfully used the age range of 15-69 years in this report, whereas most of their reports use the age range of 15-64 years.

¹⁰ In an astonishingly frank article, Robin Ryan (2008, p. 11) who was involved in the development of marketization policies in VET, argues that these policies were developed on the basis of little

Qualifications frameworks in Anglophone countries help to reduce the power of educational institutions because they define qualifications and outcomes of learning independently of educational institutions (Young 2008). Tuck (2007, p. 4) explains that this is a feature of NQFs in Anglophone countries that is not necessarily found in other qualification *systems* which may include, but are more than, NQFs. Even though the AQF was not as ambitious in scope as NQFs in some other Anglophone countries, like these countries, for reasons that will be discussed later, the AQF has been more successful in severing the link between qualifications and institutions in VET than it has in higher education or schools. However, the AQF has been important in Australia in establishing a market in qualifications (Moodie 2008). Qualifications frameworks are needed to structure and regulate a qualifications market in which qualifications are the unit of currency (masters, degrees, diplomas etc). They are the mechanism through which fees, qualifications and jobs can be exchanged. This is why a qualifications framework applies to higher education (at least in Australia) even if it is unable to specify the learning outcomes for higher education with the same precision as with VET.

While there is a high level of congruence between education reforms in Australia and other Anglophone nations, there are also important differences 'as local traditions and influences merge with global trends' (Priestley 2002, p. 122). Global pressures are mediated within nations by political processes and governments, so that 'It is not the economic pressures themselves but rather how they are perceived which drives educational changes' (Raffe 2002, p. 5). The discourse of globalization is also used by governments in nation states as a mechanism to drive internal change, and in the case of the Anglophone countries, to implement neo-liberal reforms (Jarvis 2007). This also helps to account for the similarities between educational reforms in Anglophone countries, but also the difference between them.

Goozee (2001, p. 62) explains that the years 1987-1990 were characterized by strong interventionist government policies in Australia that were designed to respond to national economic needs, and this resulted in dislocation and constant restructuring for all sectors of education in Australia. However, governments have not had untrammelled power in this process. Keating (2008b, p. 3) argues:

Broadly there are three agents in the ownership and management of qualifications: providers (universities, colleges, institutes, schools), the state and civil society in the form of professional, occupational and industrial communities and organizations.

The different relationships between these three 'agents' are mediated in different ways in schools, VET and higher education as a consequence of the different social relations and relative power of each constituency within and between each sector of education, but also by the federated structure of Australian Government.

Government

Government power in Australia is shared between a National Government (called the Australian or Commonwealth Government) and eight State and Territory Governments. Even though education is constitutionally a State Government responsibility, responsibility and funding for education is shared between the two levels of government. The three main

evidence. He says 'the fundamental point of the desirability of market forces in VET has almost always been resolved simply by assertion, often with reference back to a report which had previously made the same act of faith.'

sectors of education in Australia are schools, VET and higher education.¹¹ While the Australian Government is responsible for higher education and the State and Territory Governments are responsible for schools and VET, in practice control, responsibility and funding are shared between both levels of government. The Australian Government provides almost all government funding for higher education, but it provides some funding for schools and VET. Both Labor and conservative governments have vigorously used their minority funding to drive VET policy over the last 15 years, and the current Labor Government is increasingly doing so now in schools, as did the previous conservative government.

Co-ordination of education policy occurs through Ministerial Councils which include the Commonwealth, State and Territory Education and Training Ministers. The new Australian Labor Government overhauled the system of Ministerial Councils under the previous conservative government and established two new Ministerial Councils. The first is the Ministerial Council for Education, Early Childhood Development and Youth Affairs (MCEEDYA). The second, and the one most relevant for this paper, is the Ministerial Council for Tertiary Education and Employment (MCTEE). 12 MCTEE has responsibility for higher education, VET, international education, adult and community education, the AQF, employment and youth policy (Commonwealth of Australia 2009, p. 43). The creation of MCTEE is one element of the restructuring of post-compulsory education that will bring VET and higher education together in a more coherent tertiary education system. It replaces the previous conservative government's Ministerial Council for Vocational and Technical Education (MCVTE) which had specific responsibility for VET while all other sectors remained under the previous Ministerial Council, which was the Ministerial Council for Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA), thus contributing to reinforcing sectoral divisions.

While the formal arrangements between governments sound collaborative, Commonwealth/State relations have always been fraught in Australia, and this is as true of education and training policy as any other. Although State/Commonwealth relations can be fraught even when the same party is in power at both levels, they are much more so when all the States have a different party in power to the Commonwealth. This was the case during the 11 years of conservative Commonwealth Government with Labor Governments in all States and Territories for most of that time, and Commonwealth/State relations were particularly difficult and often openly hostile. Australia now has a Labor National

¹¹ Adult and community education (ACE) is sometimes, and sometimes not, included as a sector, although it does come under the purview of the new ministerial council for tertiary education. ACE is constituted as a *sector* in some States (New South Wales and Victoria), and offers a range of programmes including accredited and funded VET programmes, with accompanying State Government infrastructure to support it. In other States, ACE is a form of provision, which is offered by TAFE institutes and other community-based providers, with the latter not funded to offer accredited VET programmes (Wheelahan et al. 2002). Pre-school and early childhood education is increasingly seen as a sector of education, particularly since the commitment of the Labor Government that all Australian children aged 4 years will have access to structured educational experiences for 15 hours a week taught by qualified early childhood educators (Australian Labor Party 2007b).

¹² See the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR) website which explains the establishment of the two Ministerial Councils and the responsibilities of MCEEDYA: http://www.deewr.gov.au/Skills/Programs/Pages/Ministerial_Council.aspx [22 Nov. 2009].

Government and only one of the states has a conservative government, but most political commentators would argue that this situation will not remain for long.

The new Labor Prime Minister, Kevin Rudd, promised that his Government would engage in co-operative federalism in working with the States, and the States have so far willingly participated in this process. As a consequence, the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) has emerged with significant and hitherto unparalleled power. It consists of the Prime Minister and all State and Territory Premiers (the elected leaders of those Governments) and it is playing a key role in schools and VET policy. Arguably, COAG is, as a consequence, bypassing the state education and training departments and ministers in the process, particularly in VET policy (Moodie 2009; Ross 2008).

The contradiction at the heart of Australia's education sectors

Unlike most Anglophone nations, Australia has a deeply-tracked tertiary education system that differentiates VET and higher-education qualifications, curriculum, processes of learning, outcomes and purposes, but like most Anglophone nations, it has an untracked or unified secondary education system. This is at the heart of the contradiction in Australian post-compulsory education and training (Moodie 2005b, 2008; Keating 2006).

Young (2005, pp. 15-16) argues that NQFs are based on two tensions that arise from conflicting assumptions that are used to design qualifications. The first tension is around the principle of difference and the principle of similarity, and the second tension is around qualifications designed on the basis of inputs and those designed on the basis of outputs. Traditional, 'tracked' qualifications systems use the principle of difference because they emphasize the different purposes of VET and higher education qualifications and the different occupational destinations they are designed to serve. This works if graduates enter relatively stable labour market destinations and tracked systems are able to effectively allocate graduates to job vacancies and to careers that draw from the differentiated knowledge base in each sector (Moodie 2003). 'Unified' systems are designed to meet the needs of more fluid labour markets in which knowledge and skill requirements change in response to change in markets and processes of production and technology, and this means that they are putatively underpinned by common knowledge and skill requirements. There is less of a 'fit' between qualifications and their occupational destinations. This is encapsulated most clearly in policy that establishes generic skills as an important component of qualifications. The principle of similarity underpins qualifications frameworks in unified systems that emphasize progression to and from general and vocational education (Young 2005, p. 15).

Qualifications that are based on inputs assume that they cannot be defined independently of the syllabus, processes of learning and assessment and the institutional setting in which learning takes place. This usually requires a high level of trust between all stakeholders. Young (2005) refers to these types of qualifications systems as process-based or institutional systems. Qualifications that are based on outputs sever the link between the institution and learning outcomes because they are based on the premise that learning outcomes can be defined independently of when, how or where learning takes place. Process-based systems use shared agreement among stakeholders (such as professional bodies) about content, learning and assessment, whereas outcomes-based systems are premised on the specification of 'objective' criteria in a national framework (Young 2001, p. 11). Governments have used outcomes-based qualifications frameworks to support the shift from the 'provider culture' of education and training institutions and awarding bodies to a 'user-led' marketized system. National criteria are needed where there is low trust and the 'rules' are used to regulate behaviour between stakeholders and to regulate buying and

selling in a qualifications market. In fluid labour markets, the qualifications themselves become signifiers of the knowledge, skills and attributes of individuals (Young 2005).

Qualifications systems in Northern Europe tend to be tracked and process-oriented. In contrast, qualifications systems in Anglophone countries tend to be unified and outcomesoriented (idem). This maps to the different ways each organizes their economies. The economies of Northern Europe use social partnerships between employers, business, and labour to match graduates to jobs in relatively stable labour markets, whereas Anglophone liberal market economies use the market as the mechanism for matching graduates and jobs in volatile labour markets (Hall and Soskice 2001).

The contradiction arises in Australia because it is a liberal market economy like Britain and the United States, but it has deeply differentiated VET and HE sectors that are in many ways similar to the tracked sectors characteristic of Northern Europe. However, unlike many countries in Northern Europe, which have tracked secondary systems of education, the senior years of secondary education in Australia have been relatively undifferentiated and the senior school certificates have been designed primarily to rank students for competitive entry to university (Keating 2006, pp. 62-63). Keating explains that:

... the logic of these typologies would suggest that the post-school education sector in Australia should be similar to those of the UK, North America and New Zealand. Australia shares with these countries an untracked secondary school system, and upon this basis it should have a more diversified and generalist post-school sector. The open nature of these Anglophone generalist school systems allows for less regulated links with the post-school sectors which in turn can adapt into different orientations and generalist institutions. This contrasts with the academic and vocational tracks of the continental European secondary school systems that articulate relatively directly with the more specialized post-school sectors. (ibid., p.60).

This contradiction is all the more stark given that, as demonstrated earlier, there is a very loose fit between qualifications and their occupational destinations; the occupational differentiation that tracked systems are meant to serve takes place in a relatively undifferentiated labour market with VET advanced diploma/diploma graduates and degree graduates competing for the same jobs.

While the creation of the AQF was meant in part to deal with these contradictions, it has had only limited success in doing so. This is because the AQF was structured by, and the outcome of, broader policies that reinforced the distinction between the VET and higher education sectors, but without challenging the senior school certificates' primary emphasis on ranking students for university entry. At the same time as the Australian Government was creating a unified higher education system by amalgamating universities and colleges of advanced education in the late 1980s, it was implementing policies to create a national VET system 'in the skills development or industrial training mould' based on 'industry leadership' and competency-based models of curriculum (ibid., p. 61). While emphasizing that higher education has a vocational role, particularly for the professions, Karmel et al. (2008, p. 9) nonetheless say:

Vocational education and training (VET) is, by definition, vocational in intent. Its purpose is unashamedly instrumental; it is about acquiring skills to be used at work. This contrasts with the broader purposes of school education and university education, where education is often seen as an end in its own right.

This difference, broadly understood, has structured the sectors and the relationship between them.

Higher education

There are 37 public universities in Australia, and a large number of very small private educational providers which includes two small private not-for-profit universities, private-for-profit colleges, religious colleges and preparatory colleges established by public universities and private companies. Ten Technical and Further Education (TAFE) institutes, which are publicly-funded VET institutions, are registered to offer two-year associate degrees and bachelor degrees, although almost all this provision is not publicly funded and is offered for full tuition fees. In 2007, public universities enrolled 94 per cent of all higher education students.¹³

The Australian Government has principal responsibility for universities, but they are established by State Acts of Parliament, and State Governments play a role in how they are shaped and the contribution they make to education provision and the economy. State governments are key players in deciding where new universities or campuses will be established, which is a matter of some importance because of the contribution universities make to local economies and communities. The State of Victoria is unusual because it has eight public universities and four of these are 'dual-sector universities' which include a large higher education and TAFE division. There is only one other dual-sector university and that is in the Northern Territory, which is a vast and sparsely populated region.

Government funding as a proportion of university income has steadily declined over the last 20 years and the Australian Government now contributes 41 per cent of universities' income, while State and local governments contribute 4 per cent. The proportion paid by students in fees and charges has steadily increased and is now 38 per cent of universities' total revenue. The source of Australian universities' revenue is shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Sources of Australian universities' revenue, 2007 (AUD \$'000)

Source	\$'000	Per cent
Australian Government grants	7,016,258	41
Student fees and charges	6,563,790	38
Other income	1,336,455	8
Investment revenue	837,062	5
Consultancies and contracts	791,276	5
State and local governments	691,297	4
Royalties, trademarks and licenses	79,039	0
Total	17,315,177	100

Source: DEEWR (2008a) Adjusted statement of financial performance for each Higher Education Provider (HEP), 2007 (AUD \$'000)

Australia's international education services are increasingly important for the Australian economy and for universities' incomes. This market consists of full-fee paying on-shore and off-shore international students. Education services are now Australia's largest service export and the third-largest export overall behind coal and iron ore (Bradley

[.]

¹³ DEEWR (2008b): Table (ii): Summary of student load EFTSL (Equivalent Full-Time Student Loads), 2006 and 2007 full year.

2008, p. 87). Overseas student revenue is now 15 per cent of universities' revenue, while overseas students are 25 per cent of all higher education students. Internationalization of Australian higher education is now seen as a cultural and pedagogic imperative as well as an economic one (ibid.). Australia is currently experiencing a crisis in its international student market as a result of poor provision by private VET providers for on-shore international students. A growing number of small private-for-profit colleges have failed and the Australian and State governments are seeking to tighten regulations and quality assurance. While this is a VET 'problem', it has nonetheless damaged the reputation of all Australian tertiary education providers, and universities are worried about the impact this may have on demand for their programmes by overseas students.

Public universities receive funding to offer public under-graduate places to domestic students in undergraduate degrees and research higher degrees (research masters and PhDs), but other post-graduate courses are usually full-fee, which includes graduate certificates/diplomas, course-work masters and professional doctorates. The Labor Government has overturned a decision of the previous conservative government and prohibited public universities from offering full-fee under-graduate places to domestic students. Students in under-graduate public places make a substantial contribution to the cost of their degrees depending on the discipline in which they are enrolled, and in 2009 this ranged from 84 per cent in business and law, 52 per cent in the humanities, 32 per cent in medicine, to the lowest of 22 per cent in science.¹⁴ Domestic research higher degree students do not pay fees. All public and full-fee-paying under-graduate and post-graduate domestic students can defer payment of their fees in public universities and appropriately registered private higher education providers through an income-contingent loan. This means that they pay a percentage of their income through the tax system once their income reaches a threshold, which is around average week earnings and their debt does not accrue a real rate of interest.

The Australian Government has announced that it will introduce demand-driven funding for public higher education places at public universities based on student entitlements by 2012 (Commonwealth of Australia 2009, p. 17). The Minister for Education, Julia Gillard (2009d) insists this is not a student voucher, however, this is a difficult argument to sustain given that universities will be funded only if students enrol at those institutions, and students are free to choose the institution in which they will enrol (provided they meet the entry criteria). Similar arrangements are considered 'indirect vouchers' in the literature (see Agasisti et al. (2009, p. 39) and the literature there cited). Other higher education institutions have been excluded from access to this funding at this stage, including TAFE, but commentators think that this position will be hard for the Government to sustain if it is insisting on a market-driven higher education sector with competitive private higher education institutions. Moreover, it will arguably be difficult for the Government to meet its higher education expansion targets without the involvement of TAFE, either through directly funding TAFE to deliver public higher education, or through franchise arrangements between TAFEs and universities.

Only universities and a very small number of other institutions are self-accrediting. Other institutions that wish to offer higher education qualifications must be registered with their State higher education registering body and each programme that they wish to offer

¹⁴ Derived from Bradley (2008) and Commonwealth of Australia (2009) Indexed amounts for 2009 http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/higher-education/publications-resources/summaries-brochures/resources-for_student_administrators.htm [20 July 2009].

must be accredited as well. The processes for registering higher education institutions and accrediting qualifications are similar in all states because all states implement the MCEETYA *National Protocols for Higher Education Approval Processes*. The purpose of the National Protocols is to:

... protect the standing of Australian higher education nationally and internationally by assuring students and the community that higher education institutions in Australia have met identified criteria and are subject to appropriate government regulation (MCEETYA 2007, p. 1)

The protocols have criteria that must be followed in establishing universities; awarding self-accrediting status to higher education institutions that are not universities; registering non-self accrediting higher education institutions; and approving international higher education institutions that seek to operate in Australia. One of the conditions of registration is that accredited higher education qualifications must comply with the AQF higher education titles and qualifications descriptors. This is honoured more in the breach by universities, but it is enforced on all other higher education providers by the State government registering bodies. This is one way in which the AQF is indirectly coming to play a more regulatory role. It has, however, led to complaints among non-university providers and others in the sector that non-university providers are required to meet higher standards in accrediting their programmes than are universities (Wheelahan et al. 2009). In addition to this, all education providers from all sectors of education that wish to offer full-fee qualifications to overseas students must register their courses on the Commonwealth Register of Institutions and Courses (CRICOS) and they cannot do so unless their courses are AQF compliant, and universities must comply with this.

The Australian Universities Quality Agency (AUQA) is responsible for auditing the quality of Australian universities and they are audited every five years. State Government higher education registering bodies are responsible for the quality of higher education programmes that they accredit, and they are also audited by AUQA. In addition, AUQA can choose to audit non-university higher education providers. However, there are perceptions that the current model is: '...too focused on inputs and processes and does not give sufficient weight to assuring and demonstrating outcomes and standards' (Bradley 2008, p. 115). Moreover, among other things, there are concerns about different and overlapping jurisdictions and regulatory and quality frameworks for registering higher education institutions, for VET, and for consumer protection for overseas students (idem). Consequently, a new Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA) is to be established to evaluate higher education institutions against 'objective and comparative benchmarks of quality and performance' that are to be developed by TEQSA (Commonwealth of Australia 2009, p. 31). It will be established by 2010 and it will encompass VET by 2013.

Vocational education and training (VET)

The wide-ranging reforms to the VET sector in Australia since the 1980s have largely had bipartisan support from both Labor and conservative Commonwealth and State and Territory Governments. Before these reforms, each State and Territory had its own qualifications and systems of accreditation which were often not recognized in another State, even if the qualification was for the same occupation. The creation of a national VET system was a key component of Government attempts to transform VET into a lever of micro-economic reform, and to underpin industry restructuring and reforms to industrial relations. Government reforms sought to create:

an open, competitive training market; and,

• a nationally coherent, 'industry-led' training system based on competency-based training frameworks, with nationally-recognized and portable qualifications.

As a consequence of these reforms, TAFE is only one educational 'provider' in a competitive VET market. All educational providers that wish to offer accredited VET qualifications must become a 'registered training organization' (RTO) by seeking registration with their State training authority. There are 59 TAFE institutes and over 2,000 other RTOs, and of these, around 30 per cent are community education providers or other government providers, while the rest are 'other' providers which include private training organizations as well as a small number of 'enterprise' providers who are registered to train their staff using accredited VET qualifications. However, TAFE remains the dominant provider and in 2007 it accounted for almost 79 per cent of all students, and around 84 per cent of the 'number of hours of delivery', which is how student load is measured in VET (NCVER 2008c, Tables 8 and 9). In 2006, some 19 per cent of VET students were apprentices and trainees (idem, Table 3). Two-thirds of all apprentices and trainees were male, and 46 per cent of all apprentices were in the Tradespersons and related workers (trades) occupational group. Just over 60 per cent of females (ABS 2008b, p. 387).

The Australian and State and Territory Governments have co-operated to create a national VET system even though the relationships between them have been tense and difficult at times. Foremost within this is the National Skills Framework. It consists of the Australian Quality Training Framework (AQTF)¹⁵ and training packages. The purpose of the AQTF is to guarantee the quality of VET delivery and national recognition of VET qualifications, while training packages comprise nationally-portable VET qualifications. Publicly-funded VET qualifications in Australia *must* be based on national training packages, which consist of competency-based qualifications using 'industry'-specified units of competency. Units of competency describe discrete workplace requirements and the knowledge, skills and attitudes that are needed to perform workplace tasks or roles (DEST 2007c). Training packages are the equivalent of the British National Vocational Qualifications (NVQs). Another way of explaining the AQTF and training packages and the distinctions between them is that the AQTF is concerned with regulating the providers of training and ensuring that the training they conduct is of high quality, while training packages are about the qualifications that are issued.

The AQTF was introduced in 2001 and was updated most recently in 2007 (DEST 2007a). The AQTF 2007 Essential Standards has three components which are:

- the essential standards for registration that RTOs must meet to deliver, assess and issue nationally-recognized qualifications. RTOs are audited against these standards through quality indicators which include employer satisfaction, learner satisfaction, and completion rate for units of competency (idem, p. 6);
- the standards that State and Territory registering bodies must meet in registering RTOs;
 and.
- voluntary 'excellence criteria' that RTOs can use 'to improve their performance' and thus gain recognition for meeting these criteria.

16

¹⁵ It is unfortunate that the VET's quality assurance framework was entitled AQTF – it is too close to the AQF and causes considerable confusion for those trying to understand the VET system and the distinction between the AQTF and the AQF.

The national recognition of VET qualifications means that all qualifications or statements of attainment (which record completed units of competency, but not a full qualification) must be recognized by other RTOs throughout Australia.

Industry 'leadership' of VET is achieved by a number of mechanisms (Knight and Mlotkowski 2009, p. 29). This is achieved by:

- The National Quality Council (NQC), which is a committee of MCTEE, is responsible for quality assurance and the application of the AQTF. It is also responsible for endorsing training packages and is consequently a very powerful body. It comprises a range of representatives from peak employer bodies, a union representative, officials from the States and Commonwealth, a representative each from public and private providers, and two equity representatives.¹⁶
- The National Industry Skills Council (NISC), which provides advice to MCTEE on training, workforce planning and training priorities; ¹⁷ and,
- Eleven industry skills councils that are responsible for developing and maintaining training packages, as well as providing industry 'intelligence' to VET about training requirements through developing industry skill reports.¹⁸

In addition, the new Labor Government established 'Skills Australia', which is a statutory body that advises government on current and future skill needs in vocational and higher education.¹⁹ There are also State and Territory industry training advisory bodies. Skills Australia has argued that the governance and industry advisory arrangements in VET are overly complex and need to be streamlined.

...and what happens in practice

While VET is meant to be a national system, in practice there is considerable diversity between the States because the States still retain authority for VET and manage VET systems. The Commonwealth contributes about 25 per cent of recurrent public funding to VET (Productivity Commission 2009, pp. 5-9), but most of this is distributed through the States. The States have differed in the way they have organized their VET systems and in particular, their TAFE systems. Victoria affords its TAFE institutes more independence from government than other States, but in a more marketized and competitive environment. Victoria also funds its TAFEs at around 13 per cent lower than the national average, and much lower than some individual States (Knight and Mlotkowski 2009, Table 16). There is also considerable variation in fees that students pay. Victoria is instituting an incomecontingent loan for publicly- and privately-funded VET qualifications, whereas this option is open in other States only to students who pay full-fees for VET diplomas and advanced diplomas that lead to credit in degrees.

¹⁶ The NOC's website is: http://www.ngc.tvetaustralia.com.au/ [10 June 2009].

¹⁷ NISC's website is: http://www.nisc.tvetaustralia.com.au/ [10 June 2009].

¹⁸ This is an overarching website that provides information about and links to the 11 industry skills councils: http://www.isc.org.au/display main.php?id=about [10 June 2009].

¹⁹ Skills Australia's website is: http://www.skillsaustralia.gov.au/SkillsAustraliaHome.htm [10 June 2009].

VET is often portrayed as the sector concerned with the education of adults, while higher education is often portrayed as the sector most concerned with school leavers. This is because young people under aged 25 years were around 60 per cent of all higher education students in 2006, while they were almost 43 per cent of VET students in the same year. However, VET has many more students in one year than higher education and VET has a much higher *number* of young people than higher education: there were 437,649 domestic higher education students aged under 25 years in 2006 (600,512 if international students are included), while there were 715,800 young people of the same age in VET.²⁰ This is important because VET qualifications are premised on the notion of workplace training and assume that students are in the workplace. The AQF website says, for example, in explaining VET qualifications:

To be assessed as competent for one of the vocational qualifications, you have to show you can use your skills and knowledge under workplace conditions, so a lot of your training will be in the workplace.²¹

Yet most training is not in the workplace. Knight and Mlotkowski (2009: 34) explain that only 6.8 per cent of recognized VET delivery in the public VET system in 2006 took place in the workplace, while 75.2 per cent was campus or classroom based, 5.3 per cent was in online or other off-campus modes, and the remaining 12.7 per cent took place in other modes. Young students in VET have the same requirements as those in higher education; both require an education that will prepare them for work, for further learning, and for their broader development as the basis of their participation in society. However, VET students are required to undertake qualifications in which the rationale, pedagogy and curriculum are focussed on training in the workplace, even though this is a fiction.

Guthrie (2009, p. 25) says that there is strong support for Competency-Based Training (CBT) among industry peak bodies and skills councils, and that there is '...a large measure of support, but still some lingering disquiet, among providers using CBT, and amongst a number of academics.' He says that there is a need for '...a refined model of CBT which addresses some of the issues with the conception of competence and the ways Training Packages and the training system operate' (idem). He claims that 'On the whole, a strong case has not been made for an alternative approach' (idem). However, he argues later that better change management strategies are still needed, and that 'The secret will be to focus attention on those who are sceptical about training products and processes to convince them of the change required' (idem, p. 27). Arguably, Guthrie's tempered account of criticisms of CBT and training packages does not reflect much of the literature, while it may reflect the views of industry peak bodies and skills councils.

In the 2004 high level review of training packages, Schofield et al. (2004, p. 10) found that, on the one hand, there can be:

... insufficient variation between the requirements for AQF qualifications. This can lead to poorly differentiated outcomes, the potential for the same groupings of units of competency to lead to multiple qualification outcomes for vastly different content and training effort.

²⁰ DEST 2007b, Tables 19 and 20; NCVER 2008c, Table 2.

²

²¹ Emphasis in original. See the AQF website: http://www.aqf.edu.au/aboutaqf.htm [13 June 2009].

On the other hand, there were wide variations in the size and dimensions of training package qualifications. The alignment of qualifications to AQF qualifications was shaped by '...industry's interpretation of the AQF descriptors and documentation... [and there] is some anecdotal evidence to suggest that in some instances, allocation of an AQF level to a qualification may be influenced by factors other than the content of the qualification, such as eligibility for New Apprenticeship incentives' (idem).

A recent OECD review of VET in Australia found many problems with training packages (Hoeckel et al. 2008, p. 36). The report says that the consultative nature of the training package development process means that there is a tendency for them 'to expand in order to accommodate every interest and concern' and many are hundreds of pages. Providers reported that they planned to use higher education qualifications because they were easier to deal with, and employers appeared unhappy with the current form of training packages. Training packages take a long time and are expensive to develop and this limits their relevance because skill requirements change frequently in some industrial sectors. They are designed around jobs (and workplace tasks or roles), yet 'they are not useful for students who want to study in a certain area but do not have a particular job in mind', and nor are they suitable for international students because they are designed for Australian jobs (idem). The OECD team say that they heard complaints that those who develop training packages are not in touch with the needs of industry, and they argue that in the absence of national assessments, 'there is no standard to ensure that a particular set of skills has in fact been acquired'. Moreover, training packages are 'frequently too complex to follow for teachers and trainers, who are not involved in their development.' They say that 'about 80 per cent of all publicly recorded enrolments in 2006 were in just 180 qualifications (out of the 1709 available). Around 70 qualifications were not used at all in 2006' (idem). This leads them to the conclusion that:

Now that a national system is well established... [training packages] have outlived their usefulness, particularly in view of the time and effort involved in developing and maintaining them. (idem, p. 37)

However, they recommend that instead Australia adopt simple and briefer skills standards, and they offer NVQs as one possible model. They also recommend more external national assessments and more thorough marketization and demand-driven student funding models.

Training packages have also been controversial among TAFE teachers. In their high-level review of training packages, Schofield and McDonald (2004, p. 27) found that there was an 'unacceptably high level of confusion amongst educators in particular about the relationship between Training Packages and teaching, learning and assessment.' Furthermore, it wasn't just that teachers do not understand training packages, they are also hostile to them, and Schofield and McDonald (2004, p. 33) argued that this legacy needed to be dealt with if training packages were to be based on a 'new settlement'. They said that all parties needed to acknowledge that the introduction of training packages could have been better handled as a first step in engaging 'clients' (that is, teachers in this instance). They argued that a 'new settlement' was needed to underpin training packages and that part of this new settlement should be less regulation and more faith in the professionalism of teachers.

Schools²²

School education is more thoroughly a State Government responsibility although the Australian Government has been seeking to increase its control over school education by making funding conditional on compliance with its policies. In 2006-2007, the Commonwealth provided 8.8 per cent of funding to government schools, while the State and Territory Governments provided 91.2 per cent. These proportions are reversed for funding of non-government schools: the Commonwealth provided 72.5 per cent of public funding while the States and Territory Governments provided 27.5 per cent (Productivity Commission 2009, p. 4.4).

Some 67.2 per cent school students attended government schools in 2005, while 32.8 per cent attended non-government schools. The percentage attending non-government primary schools in 2005 was 29.1 per cent, while the percentage attending non-government secondary schools was 37.9 per cent (MCEETYA 2009). Keating (2003, p. 272) explains that non-government schools can be divided into low fee and comparatively open entry schools to high fee, selective schools. In 2005, some 61 per cent of students attending non-government schools were enrolled in Catholic schools (MCEETYA 2009). The percentage of students attending government schools rose by 1.7 per cent from 1997 to 2007, while the percentage attending non-government schools rose by 21.9 per cent over the same period (ABS 2008d, p. 4). Ryan and Watson (2004) argue that this drift to private schools has resulted in a higher proportion of students from low socio-economic backgrounds in government schools. High fee and selective schools dominate entry to the elite universities, particularly to the elite professions (Keating 2003, p. 272; Teese 2000). Keating (2003, p. 272) explains that:

... unlike almost every other OECD country, and in contrast to other large non-government systems such as Belgium and the Netherlands (Eurydice 2001) non-government schools are free to select students on their capacity to pay fees as well as their academic and other prowess.

Each State has its own senior school certificate and a board of studies which is a statutory body and independent from the State education departments. Boards of studies are responsible for the senior school curriculum and exams and for awarding qualifications. The senior school certificates are geared towards university entrance, and students are 'ranked' and awarded a tertiary entrance rank depending on their grades in the senior school certificate (Keating 2000, 2003). Keating (2003, p. 272) argues that the boards of studies have powerful constituencies in elite academic schools and universities and this contributes to their relative autonomy and capacity to resist thorough reform of the senior school certificates. These relationships are sustained through membership of subject or curriculum committees and other networks (Keating 2006, p. 61).

However, there are continuing pressures on the senior school certificates to respond to a range of demands such as increasing school participation and retention, and the increased diversity of students and post-school pathways. All States now include VET-in-schools as part of the senior school certificates, although the States differ in the extent to which they

²² This section is primarily dependent on Jack Keating's (2000, 2003, 2006, 2008b) work.

²³ See Table 4, Appendix 1, Statistical Annexe, National Report on Australian Schooling 2005 (MCEETYA 2009).

include VET-in-schools as part of the tertiary entrance rank. Most secondary schools now offer VET-in-schools and almost 34 per cent of senior secondary school students are enrolled in VET as part of their senior school certificate (NCVER 2008a, Table 1). VET-in-schools mostly consists of VET certificates I and II, and there have been concerns over the quality of this provision (Polesel 2008). School-based apprenticeships, where students commence an apprenticeship while undertaking their senior school certificate, are also available to students. The numbers are still small (but growing) – 17,000 commencements in the 12 months before 31 March 2007 (ABS 2008b, p. 384).

The Australian Government is increasing its control over school education. Australia now conducts national literacy and numeracy tests commencing in the early years of school. Students' achievements are measured and ranked and, as part of the Government's commitment to 'transparency', information will be published about individual school results and how the school compared to 'similar' schools, as well as information about the student population (Gillard 2008, 2009a). The Australian Government is also establishing a national curriculum board to develop a national curriculum for all levels of school education, initially in key learning areas such as English, mathematics, the sciences and history (ABS 2008b, p. 378).

Summary

Government policies are contributing to blurring the sectoral divide in two ways. First, the Australian Government is establishing the 'architecture' that is required for a coherent tertiary education system based on stronger regulatory and quality assurance arrangements for all sectors. This includes:

- the structuring of the Commonwealth Department of Education, Employment and Workplace relations so that higher education and VET are within the same 'group';
- a 'strengthened' AQF;
- a ministerial council for tertiary education;
- a new regulatory body for higher education that will eventually include VET; and
- more consistent student fees through the extension of income-contingent loans to some VET qualifications; a process that will undoubtedly be extended.

Second, Government policies that seek to create markets in education are contributing to the blurring of the sectoral divide. The educational sectors are increasingly defined by the qualifications that are accredited in each sector and not by the type of institutions that comprise those sectors, even though most institutions are still defined by their primary sectoral location. Many of Australia's 37 public universities are registered to offer VET qualifications, or have established companies to do so (Karmel 2009b), and now ten TAFE are registered to offer higher education programmes (Wheelahan et al. 2009). As explained above, most schools now offer VET as part of their senior school certificates. To add to the complexity, the number of private providers in VET and higher education has grown considerably over recent years to be a small, if growing, part of both sectors, and many of these institutions offer both VET and higher education qualifications (Watson 2000).

However, while these policies and market pressures are contributing to blurring sectoral divides, there are still important contradictions. First, the Government will not

allow public universities to offer full-fee under-graduate programmes to domestic students, but the public provider in VET (TAFE) is expected to increase its proportion of full-fee students and income.²⁴ The 'market' that is being constructed in each sector differs. This is perhaps a transient contradiction. More important is the insistence that VET qualifications be competency-based in an 'industry-led' system, while schools and higher education have an input-based model of curriculum.

4. The Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF)

This section first outlines the origins of the AQF. It explores the *intrinsic* and *institutional* logics that shaped its development (Raffe et al. 1994). The structure of the AQF is then outlined, and this includes a discussion of student articulation between the sectors, credit transfer and recognition of prior learning (RPL). Following this is an evaluation of the AQF. The Appendix at the end of this paper contains a list of dates and events in the evolution of tertiary education in Australia.

Origins of the AQF: Intrinsic and institutional logics

The AQF was introduced in 1995 and phased in over five years. Keating (2000) says that a qualifications framework has three broad purposes. It aims to:

- establish equivalence and links between qualifications in articulation, credit transfer, pathways and 'seamlessness', by ensuring that qualifications are recognized by different jurisdictions and stakeholders;
- be a mechanism of quality control, encompassing quality assurance, user confidence in the system, and funding; and,
- achieve coherence between general and vocational streams, the aim of which is to provide a basis for measurement and comparison of outcomes, and to provide the basis for embedding key or core skills.

This describes the 'intrinsic logic' of qualifications frameworks – the rationale upon which NQFs are justified or supported independently of the 'context in which the reform might be implemented' (Young 2003, p. 201). However, reforms are always mediated by the economic and social interests of different constituencies as well as the construction of sectors and the institutions within them – Raffe et al. (1994) refer to this as the institutional logic of reforms.

The institutional logics had a powerful impact on the nature of the AQF and its subsequent development. A key driver shaping the AQF which it shared with NQFs in other countries was to develop a national VET system (DEST 2003, p. 12; Tuck 2007). This is expressed in one of the AQF's objectives which is to '...encourage the provision of more and higher quality vocational education and training through qualifications that normally meet workplace requirements and vocational needs, thus contributing to national economic performance'. There is no parallel AQF objective to establish national coherence to qualifications in higher education and the senior secondary qualifications in the different

22

²⁴ I am not condoning markets and full fees in education here, just pointing to an inconsistency in policy.

States. This reflects the influence of institutional logic, specifically the relative autonomy of the universities and powerful stakeholders in the senior secondary school systems (Keating 2003). It also explains why the AQF mainly applies to the VET sector. When the national VET system was established in the 1990s, business and unions shaped the structure and governance of the system, and the nature of qualifications as competency-based. Industry interests shaped the structure of the AQF. For example, Keating (2006, p. 65) explains that:

... a decision was made in 2002 to take out any mention of 'levels' in the description of the framework. This was made under pressure from the business sector to ensure that qualification levels could not be linked to industrial awards, and thus acknowledged the AQF's major and arguably only tangible function: that of a set of descriptors for assembling VET qualifications from the industry derived units of competency.

However, even though the AQF mainly applies to the VET sector, the higher education sector has been influential in shaping its structure and in maintaining the sectoral differentiation between VET and higher education. Associate degrees – two-year degrees – were added to the AQF in 2004 as *higher education* qualifications, even though the key statutory body with authority for VET argued at the time that they should be both a higher education and a VET qualification. Furthermore, key stakeholders in VET argued that graduate diplomas and graduate certificates should be VET qualifications as well as higher education qualifications. The peak body for universities opposed this, but it 'supported' VET in 'developing and accrediting its own separately-titled awards' (DEST 2003), and so *VET* graduate diplomas and certificates were added to the AQF in 2005.

This helps to explain why the AQF is a 'loose' qualifications framework with weak regulatory functions without many of the features of NQFs elsewhere, such as taxonomy of learning outcomes, explicit levels and a measure of volume (or time) of learning.

Structure and design of the AQF and outcomes

This section outlines the origins of the AQF, its structure, the purposes it was designed to achieve, and its relationship to each of the sectors. The AQF was established in 1995 and it lists all qualifications that are accredited in the senior schools, VET and higher education sectors respectively. The AQF replaced the 'Major National Tertiary Course Award levels established by the Register of Australian Tertiary Education' (Goozee 2001, p. 88).

The AQF website says that the AQF '...is a quality assured national framework of qualifications'. ²⁵ Its objectives are, among other things, to promote pathways, credit transfer and articulation between sectors, and between work and life experience and qualifications through recognition of prior learning, and to promote 'national and international recognition of qualifications offered in Australia' (AQFAB 2007, p. 2). When the AQF was established, there were 12 qualifications, but there are now 15 with the addition of associate degrees in 2004 and VET graduate diplomas and certificates in 2005 (ibid.).

23

This is how the new AQF Council describes the AQF. See the AQF website: http://www.aqf.edu.au/AbouttheAQF/TheAQF/tabid/108/Default.aspxAQF [22 Nov. 2009]. In contrast, under the previous AQF Advisory Board, the AQF was described as 'a *unified system* of national qualifications' (emphasis added), and this was the description on the AQF website as recently as 15 June 2009 http://www.aqf.edu.au/aboutaqf.htm [15 June 2009].

Table 2. Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF)

Schools sector	VET sector	HE sector	
		Doctoral degrees	
		Masters degrees	
	VET Graduate diploma	Graduate diploma	
	VET Graduate certificate	Graduate certificate	ate
	Certificate	Bachelor degree	
	Advanced diploma	Advanced diploma	Associate degree
	Diploma	Diploma	
	Certificate IV		
	Certificate III		
Senior Secondary Certificates of education	Certificate II		
	Certificate I		

The AQF consists of broad 'characteristics of learning outcomes' for each qualification, but it does not have a taxonomy of learning outcomes. It generally indicates how long it would take to do a senior school certificate or a higher education qualification, but has no measure of time for VET qualifications (because they are based on competencyoutcomes). Each sector and jurisdiction is responsible for programme development, accreditation and quality assurance, and this is indicated in the AQF which specifies the 'authority for learning outcomes' for each sector. It also indicates how pathways can be used to achieve each qualification and undertake further study, and in this way establishes relationships between qualifications (for example, diplomas, advanced diplomas or associate degrees can lead to a degree). However, as discussed above, while it establishes relationships between qualifications, it specifically does not specify 'levels'. The 'authority for learning outcomes' for VET explain that VET qualifications 'are based on nationally endorsed competency standards' in which achievement of learning outcomes are 'identified as sets of competencies for levels of workplace performance' (AQFAB 2007, p. 6). In contrast, the 'authority for learning outcomes' for schools and higher education do not specify the nature of curriculum, only the stakeholders who are involved in developing outcomes. The AQF is also supported by:

- national guidelines on cross-sectoral links, which among other things, provides advice about the 'quantum' of credit for VET qualifications in higher education qualifications; and²⁶
- national principles and operational guidelines for RPL.²⁷

There are, in addition, two sets of MCEETYA principles to support credit transfer from VET to higher education. These are:

- Good Practice Principles for Credit Transfer and Articulation; and,
- Principles for Good Practice Information Provision on Credit Transfer and Articulation from VTE [VET] to higher education.

Outcomes: Educational pathways

The data are deeply problematic and subject to much debate. This arises in part because the sectors fund, count and report students differently, and much of the data on credit transfer and prior study history is based on student self-report (Curtis 2009; Moodie 2004). However, the following outcomes are observed.

- Most student transfer or articulation occurs within educational sectors (Curtis 2009).
- In 2007, approximately 10 per cent of students were admitted to higher education on the basis of a prior VET qualification, with the dual-sector universities admitting the highest percentage of students (17.4 per cent), and the elite universities the fewest (2.7 per cent) (Wheelahan 2009c).²⁹
- Around 3.4 per cent of higher education students were awarded credit or exemptions based on their prior VET studies in 2006.
- The 'basis of admission' underestimates the percentage of students with prior TAFE qualifications in higher education because not all VET students are admitted on the basis of their VET qualification, and it does not take into account students' multiple enrolments in both sectors (Moodie 2005a). Moodie's (idem, p. 3) research shows that 25 per cent of commencing under-graduate students and 19 per cent of commencing post-graduate students in 2003 had studied in TAFE, while Curtis (2009, p. 4) shows that 16 per cent of under-graduate commencing higher education students in 2007 reported a VET award as their highest qualification.

http://www.aqf.edu.au/AbouttheAQF/Pathways/Crosssectorqualificationlinkages/tabid/157/Default.a spx [22 Nov. 2009].

http://www.aqf.edu.au/Portals/0/Documents/Credit%20Transfer%20Project%20%20Final%20draft%20policy.pdf [22 Nov. 2009].

²⁶ For these guidelines see:

²⁷ For the RPL principles and guidelines see: http://www.aqf.edu.au/AbouttheAQF/Pathways/RecognitionofPriorLearningRPLpathway/tabid/158/Default.aspx [22 Nov. 2009].

²⁸ For these guidelines see:

²⁹ Swinburne University of Technology, a dual-sector university, admitted the highest percentage of students on the basis of prior VET studies – 27 per cent in 2007.

- VET diplomas and advanced diplomas provide an important pathway to higher education for young people aged under 25 years. Some 32 per cent of students aged under 25 in 2003 who completed a VET diploma or above went on to study a degree, as did around 14 per cent of graduates aged 25 years and over. In some fields of education such as banking and accountancy, over 50 per cent of VET diploma graduates aged under 25 years go on to study at degree (Stanwick 2006, pp. 31-32).
- Enrolments in VET diplomas and advanced diplomas are static and in some areas have declined in recent years (Karmel 2008b), and this may be a restraint on the volume of student transfer from VET to higher education because the diploma is the main qualification that students use to make this transition.
- Most students who seek admission to degrees based on a VET diploma/advanced diploma find one, and they are offered places at university at a similar rate to other categories of applicants. This may be a reflection of Australia's strong economy and relatively weak demand for tertiary education, and it will be important to ensure that VET articulators continue to be provided with access as demand for higher education places increases now that the economy is weak (Wheelahan 2009c, p. 8).
- VET to higher education student transfers are becoming more important, but there is no substantive national policy to support these transfers. Most young people who transfer from higher education to VET do so because they have not completed their degree and they enrol in VET programmes in the same broad field of study. Older students who transfer from higher education to VET have often finished their degree and are often seeking a VET qualification in a different area (Curtis 2009).
- About 3.4 per cent of all successful subject enrolments in VET in 2007 were achieved on the basis of RPL. This is quite low given the central importance placed on RPL by governments and the fact that the AQTF makes it mandatory for all RTOs to offer RPL to individuals upon enrolment (NCVER 2008c, Table 13). The data on RPL in higher education are not recent and they were collected on a different basis to VET, however, in 2001 the percentage of higher education students reporting that they received some RPL was minimal (Wheelahan et al. 2002). In both sectors, those students who receive the most RPL are older; study higher-level qualifications; are already in work; and have the considerable knowledge and skills that are needed to navigate the RPL process.

Outcomes: qualifications and employment

The data concerning the relationship between qualifications and employment outcomes are limited. However, as discussed earlier, there is not a good 'fit' between qualifications and the occupations for which they are intended, with the exception of regulated occupations where the fit is tighter (Karmel et al. 2008, p. 19). Unlike northern European countries which use agreements between social partners to regulate the match between supply and demand, in Australia the match between supply and demand is regulated through the market. The research is limited, but Ridoutt et al. (2005a, b) show that while employers value qualifications as proxies for knowledge and skills, they value experience more highly in many of their business decisions.

Larger employers were more likely to value qualifications than smaller employers, as did those who were required to meet regulatory requirements. In a small-scale research project, Ridoutt et al. (2005b, p. 7) say that 'While 90 per cent of the respondent employers valued qualifications in managing at least one risk in their enterprise, less than 25 per cent value qualifications unconditionally.' In other research, Ridoutt et al. (2005a, p. 11) say that employers do not value qualifications in the same way as does the VET sector: 'The approach taken to "qualifications" by enterprise managers is generally to seek recognition only of a small number of competencies, not a whole Australian Qualifications Framework

qualification.' In other words, there are no data that can demonstrate that the introduction of the AQF has directly raised the qualifications level of the workforce. The relationship between the two is more indirect and, while important, it is only one component of broader educational and employment policies and the way these are mediated by educational institutions, professional bodies, industry associations, unions, employers, and government. Of particular importance is the extent to which government regulates occupational requirements, as this leads to higher numbers with qualifications in those areas.

Frameworks to support pathways

A range of frameworks and models has emerged to support the development of pathways between the sectors. PhillipsKPA (2006c, p. 3) report that the trend is '... towards developing more systematic models both within institution-to-institution partnerships and in multi-institutional arrangements.' The State Governments have been active to varying degrees in promoting cross-sectoral collaboration that lead to pathways. Several State Governments have instituted State-wide approaches to credit transfer by developing memoranda of understanding between TAFE at the State level and universities collectively or with individual universities in their State, and by publicizing information about pathways on websites (PhillipsKPA 2006b, p. 85). All levels of government have funded projects to facilitate greater co-operation and pathways between institutions in both sectors, and to promote resource sharing.

The Victorian Registration and Qualifications Authority (VRQA) has developed a 'credit-matrix' to facilitate credit transfer in that state. It contains a taxonomy of learning across three domains (knowledge and skills; application; and degree of independence), levels, and points for the amount of learning involved. Unlike the AQF which is sector specific, the descriptors and levels in the credit matrix were designed to encompass all sectors (Noonan et al. 2004). It operates at the level of subjects and modules and not whole qualifications (as is the case with the AQF) (Noonan 2003). Its purpose is to facilitate pathways and credit transfer between qualifications, and courses that are submitted for accreditation or re-accreditation '...should include Credit Matrix levels and points in the accreditation submission'. By using the credit matrix to assign a position to all subjects in qualifications within the matrix, its use is extended beyond a tool that can be used by educators to mediate their discussions. Arguably, this is where it has most value. Otherwise, it adds a level of complexity to the development of qualifications that may not be particularly helpful because it is premised on the assumption that subjects, units or modules can and should be considered independently of the qualifications of which they are part.

Strengths and weaknesses

The AQF has been successful in a number of key areas. These can be summarized as follows:

- It has helped create a national VET system out of the pre-existing State-based disparate and fragmented VET systems.
- It has near-universal coverage of post-compulsory education qualifications and has controlled the proliferation of different qualifications which would have added great

³⁰ VRQA Credit Matrix website: http://www.vrqa.vic.gov.au/cmatrix/design.htm [15 June 2009].

complexity to sectoral provision and created difficulties for businesses, parents and students in understanding qualifications.

- It has a high level of acceptance within the sectors, partly because the sectors 'own' their qualifications within the AQF, but this is at 'the cost of some discontinuity and inconsistency' (Keating 2008b, p. 10).
- It has contributed to providing national consistency to VET and higher education qualifications, while it has been less successful in doing so with senior school certificates.
- It is well regarded internationally and this has contributed to the high standing of Australian qualifications internationally.
- It has, to a limited extent, provided the basis for dialogue between the sectors and been used to underpin credit transfer agreements and pathways even though the perception in government is that this has not gone far enough.
- It has avoided the problems of some other NQFs as a consequence of its distributed ownership, accreditation and quality assurance arrangements (Keating 2008b).

There are, however, considerable weaknesses. Rather than being a unified system of national qualifications, it is, as Tuck (2007, p. 21) points out, more characteristic of a linked NQF rather than a universal one. The current AQFC (2009, p. 7) consultation paper goes further and says that 'some commentators' have suggested that the AQF is effectively three separate frameworks, with one for each sector. It argues that it has fallen behind international developments, is slow to accommodate changing circumstances, doesn't assist credit and articulation across sectors, 'contains descriptors that are considered inadequate and conciliatory', and has had minimal impact in the schools and higher education sectors (idem).

The AQF's credit transfer and RPL guidelines and MCEETYA's 'good practice' credit transfer principles are not prescriptive and operate more at the level of 'good suggestions', particularly for universities, which are self-accrediting and are therefore free to determine if, when and how they will provide credit for VET qualifications. VET providers are more compelled to comply because VET policy insists on credit transfer and RPL, but this is mainly within VET and does not incorporate credit transfer for students moving from higher education to VET. Universities are required to report to government on their credit transfer and articulation policies as part of their annual reporting and this puts them under some pressure to demonstrate they have such policies, but this is not onerous.

Arguably, the AQF contributes to *entrenching* sectoral differences, because, even where qualifications are shared by the VET and higher education sectors – as is the case with diplomas and advanced diplomas – and even though they have the same broad learning outcome, they are 'different' because:

 \dots there are no standardised rankings or equivalences between different qualifications issued in different sectors, as these qualifications recognise different types of learning reflecting the distinctive educational responsibilities of each sector. Where the same qualifications are issued in more than one sector but authorised differently by each sector (ie Diploma, Advanced Diploma) they are equivalent qualifications, although sector-differentiated. (AQFAB 2007, p. 2)

In other words, the sectors' qualifications are differentiated from each other by the principle of difference. VET qualifications are based on 'outputs' that sever learning outcomes from institutions and processes of learning whereas higher education qualifications are based on 'inputs' and are process driven. The AQF states that the objectives and academic requirements of higher education qualifications are 'set by higher education institutions having regard for requirements set by peer review and the

requirements of relevant professional bodies and employer groups' (idem, p. 7). That is, they are developed through shared understandings of stakeholders about the syllabus, processes of learning and assessment and outcomes.

The tensions between equivalence and difference and between inputs and outputs within the AQF are not recognized in policy. In 2005, all Commonwealth and State education and training ministers endorsed a set of 'good practice' principles for credit transfer from VET to higher education. These principles clearly assume that learning outcomes can be determined independently of processes of learning. The first principle says that credit transfer and articulation is used to establish 'equivalence of learning outcomes' that are 'regardless of the similarity or differences of the education processes', which includes 'delivery, teaching methodology and assessment' or type of provider delivering the qualification (MCEETYA 2005).

5. The future 'stronger' AQF

As stated at the beginning of this paper, the new AQF will almost certainly be based on a taxonomy of learning outcomes, explicit levels and a measure of volume (or time) of learning. However, it is not clear that this will be able to resolve the contradiction at the heart of tertiary education in Australia unless it confronts the dilemmas that arise from:

- an AQF based on the principle of similarity when its sectors of education are based on the principle of difference;
- VET qualifications that are based on 'outputs' while school and higher education qualifications are based on 'inputs'.

It is not clear that this is regarded as a problem for the AQF. The AQFC is, at the Minister's directive, undertaking research on how competence-based qualifications and merit-based higher education qualifications can be better 'aligned'. This is in addition to an AQFC project that has been developing a 'common language' that the sectors can use in developing 'seamlessness'. It does not seem that the differences between the sectors are regarded as substantive.

Keating (2008b, p. 8) explains that an NQF 'is unlikely to be neutral on the two central questions for qualifications - the nature of the knowledge (including skills) that they represent, and the nature of the learning that has led to the knowledge.' The current proposal in the AQFC consultation paper will have different consequences depending on whether the surrounding policy results in a tight or loose framework. The different domains of learning can be understood as broad guides that can be used to structure relationships between qualifications and to guide discussion between the sectors, or they can be used to tightly specify the nature of qualifications and change the nature of learning outcomes by insisting that qualifications be derived from these outcomes. The latter has the effect of severing learning outcomes from institutions, pedagogy and syllabi. However, learning outcomes cannot be considered independently of these processes because the outcomes are determined by these processes. To insist that this should be so, results in endless processes of specification that fragment knowledge and the access that students have to knowledge (Allais 2006, 2007a, 2007b). This is reflected most strongly in competency-based training which provides students with access to contextually-specific knowledge as it is applied at work, but not the disciplinary system of meaning in which that knowledge is embedded (Wheelahan 2009a).

An AQF with levels will help to establish clearer relationships between qualifications and provide the basis for a 'climbing framework' (David, 1997, p. viii) and notions of 'time' will help to establish notions of broadly commensurable learning 'effort' between

qualifications at the same level and at different levels. This would make it easier, for example, to raise doubts about the quality of diplomas that are normally meant to be delivered in a year being delivered in three months; or a two-year masters delivered in one year or even six months. Both levels and time will help establish fair and defensible levels of credit between qualifications. This too can be tight or loose with different consequences arising from each. If it is part of a loose framework, it can be understood as providing broad guides about how qualifications can be structured and the relationships between qualifications and levels of credit. For example, it would be commonly understood that advanced diplomas may provide access to a VET graduate diploma or certificate, but that it should not provide credit towards the latter because these qualifications are meant to be at a 'higher level' of complexity and depth. It would provide the basis for discussions about the relationship between degrees and graduate diplomas and certificates. Many graduate diplomas and certificates (and even some coursework masters) are arguably repackaged under-graduate degrees that are being used to provide degree graduates with access to a different field. Other graduate diplomas and certificates have higher demands and higher levels of complexity.

The notion of levels also implies that progression from a qualification at one level to another level on the framework will be based on educational attributes, not competences demonstrated in the workplace or a simulated workplace as is currently required for VET qualifications.

The current AQFC (2009, p. 23) consultation paper provides an 'indicative example' to demonstrate the way in which levels and time can be linked in qualifications, so that, for example, a certificate IV may have 90-150 credit points (based on notional hours of learning) 'with at least x per cent of the final level of this qualification'. This indicates that it may be part of a tighter framework. There are two problems with this approach: first, a qualification can only be understood relationally by the way in which all its elements relate to each other (Keating 2008b). Insisting on how the qualification is to be made up does not take account of the differences between disciplinary fields or professional and occupational areas. The second problem is that it reduces a qualification to the sum of its parts and contributes to fragmented notions of learning. It is argued that this is necessary to support credit accumulation and credit transfer. However, the cost is too great and is unnecessary. Moodie (2008) has shown that many States in the United States have higher levels of student transfer from community colleges (the analogues of TAFE) to elite universities than does Australia, and this often occurs with specified credit. This takes place in the absence of a qualifications framework but in the context of policy 'breadth', where State legislatures pass policies that insist on these outcomes.

Qualifications will be valued only if they are trusted by those who use them and not by what they say a person can do or knows (Young 2003, p. 208). Coles and Oates (2005, p. 12) argue that student pathways, credit transfer and articulation can only be built on 'zones of mutual trust' (ZMTs) which comprise agreements between key players about the quality, standard and outcomes of qualifications.³¹ They explain that ZMTs 'exist through the behaviour of people who are participating in them, operating through, or anticipating, common values and concerns. ZMTs cannot be imposed, they are dependent on processes of consensus and on voluntary participation' (idem, p. 13). Raffe (2005, p. 36) says these zones are based on agreements that result in specific learning outcomes (such as

³¹ See Raffe (2005) and Hart (2005) on ZMTs. Michael Young (2003) uses the notion of 'communities of trust' as the basis of the credibility of qualifications.

qualifications) to be automatically accepted and credited by another institution or sector and can be at the level of a discipline, institution or network. He says that 'the existence of an agreed credit system can make negotiations on such zones easier' (idem).

A revised AQF can contribute to these relationships or it can seek to substitute itself for them. The issue of trust and qualifications has not been sufficiently explored in the literature and Young and Allais (2009) emphasize that the issue of trust cannot be evaded. Levels of credit and student transfer are higher when there is trust between institutions (PhillipsKPA 2006a). Such trust is based on confidence in teaching, learning processes, syllabi and assessment and not independently of these. Consequently, it does not make sense to talk of credit transfer and articulation between sectors in outcomes-based systems independently of 'inputs' when the trust needed to establish such arrangements is based precisely on those inputs. Minimal levels of credit transfer may take place based purely on outcomes and result in credit transfer agreements that have been 'bolted on' to qualifications, but it is unlikely to result in coherent and supported pathways developed holistically within complementary programmes that maximize credit and support student learning.

A loose framework that is owned and distributed through the sectors in which the purpose is to act as an enabling framework is more likely to achieve these outcomes than a strong, regulatory framework for pedagogic reasons and because such a framework cannot win the support that it needs from all sectors of education as has been demonstrated in New Zealand and South Africa (Tuck 2007; Young and Allais 2009). It could also provide the basis of moving towards a more consistent approach in the purpose and nature of qualifications across the sectors so that they are not so differentiated and thus overcome the tension between difference and similarity. In this way, it could provide the basis for a conversation about the way in which qualifications mediate access to the knowledge and skills needed for citizenship and participation in society more broadly, as well as for work.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank Gavin Moodie for his comments, advice and suggestions on this paper.

References

- Agasisti, T.; Cappiello, G.; Catalano, G. 2009. "The effects of vouchers in higher education: An Italian case study", in *Tertiary Education and Management*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 27-42.
- Allais S. 2007a. The rise and fall of the NQF: A critical analysis of the South African nationalqQualificationsfFramework, PhD Thesis, Graduate School of Public Management and Development, Faculty of Commerce, Law, and Management (Johannesburg, University of the Witwatersrand).
- —. 2007b. "Why the South African NQF failed: Lessons for countries wanting to introduce national qualifications frameworks", in *European Journal of Education*, Vol. 42, No. 4, pp. 523-547.
- —. 2006. "Problems with qualification reform in senior secondary education in South Africa", in M. Young; J. Gamble (eds): Knowledge, curriculum and qualifications for South African further education (Cape Town, Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC)).
- Anderson, D. 1998. 'Chameleon or phoenix: The metamorphosis of TAFE', in *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Vocational Education Research*, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 1-44.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). 2008a. 2006-2007 Migration Australia Catalogue No. 34120.0 (Canberra). Available at: http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/F15E154C9434F250CA25741 70011B45B/\$File/34120_2006-07.pdf [10 June 2009].
- —. 2008b. 2008 Year book Australia (Canberra). Available at: http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/1301.02008?OpenDocument [10 June 2009].
- —. 2008c. *Education and work Catalogue No. 6227.0*, 27 Nov. (Canberra). Available at: [10 June 2009].
- —. 2008d. Schools 2007, Catalogue No. 42210.0 (Canberra). Available at: http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/91CC63D5C3277132CA2573 FD0015D0EF/\$File/42210_2007.pdf [10 June 2009].
- —. 2007a. *Adult learning Australia Catalogue No. 4229.0*, 21 Dec. (Canberra). Available at: http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/C617A03C5C06B489CA2573 B70011D427/\$File/42290_2006-07.pdf [12 June 2009].
- —. 2007b. Australian social trends 2007 Article: Qualification profile of Australians, Catalogue No. 4102.0 (Canberra). Available at: http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/87EA37964AAF775FCA2573 2F001C999E/\$File/41020_Qualification% 20profile% 20of% 20Australians_2007.pdf [10 June 2009].
- —. 2005. Education and training experience, Australia, Catalogue No. 62780.0 (Canberra). Available at: http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/6278.02005?OpenDocument [12 June 2009].

- Australian Labor Party. 2007a. The Australian economy needs an education revolution: New directions paper on the critical link between long term prosperity, productivity growth and human capital investment (Canberra).
- —. 2007b. *New directions for early childhood education universal access to early learning for 4 year olds* (Canberra). Available at: http://www.alp.org.au/media/0107/ms290.php. [12 June 2009].
- Australian Qualifications Framework Advisory Board (AQFAB). 2007. *Australian qualifications implementation handbook* (Melbourne). Available at: http://www.aqf.edu.au/implem.htm [9 Mar. 2009].
- Australian Qualifications Framework Council (AQFC). 2009. *Strengthening the AQF: A proposal*, Consultation paper (Adelaide), May. Available at: http://www.aqf.edu.au/Portals/0/Documents/022105r08_AQF_StrengtheningTheAQF_A4_HR.pdf [1 Nov 2009].
- Barnett, K.; Spoehr, J. 2008. *Complex not simple: The vocational education and training pathway from welfare to work* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)), 2 Apr. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1987.html [1 Nov. 2009].
- Bradley, D. (Chair). 2008. *Review of Australian higher education final report* (Canberra, Department of Education, Employment & Workplace Relations). Available at: http://www.deewr.gov.au/HigherEducation/Review/Documents/PDF/Higher%20Education%20Review_one%20document_02.pdf [1 Nov. 2009].
- Buchanan, J.; Yu, S.; Marginson, S.; Wheelahan, L. 2009. *Education, work and economic renewal: An issues paper prepared for the Australian Education Union* (Sydney, Workplace Research Centre, University of Sydney), June. Available at: http://www.aeufederal.org.au/Publications/2009/JBuchananreport2009.pdf [1 Nov. 2009].
- Carmichael, L. (Chair). 1992. *The Australian vocational certificate training system* (Canberra, Employment and Skills Formation Council (ESFC) and National Board of Employment, Education and Training (NBEET)). Available at: http://www.voced.edu.au/docs/dest/TD_LMR_85_646.pdf [1 Nov. 2009].
- Centre for the Study of Higher Education (CSHE). 2008. *Participation and equity: A review of the participation in higher education of people from low socioeconomic backgrounds and indigenous people* (Melbourne, CSHE, University of Melbourne). Available at: http://www.universitiesaustralia.edu.au/documents/publications/policy/equity/0308_Particip_Equity_CSHE_Final_Report.pdf [7 Apr. 2009].
- Coles, M.; Oates, T. 2005. European reference levels for education and training promoting credit transfer and mutual trust, CEDEFOP Panorama Series No. 109, study commissioned to the Qualifications and Curriculum Authority (QCA), England (Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities). Available at:

 http://www2.trainingvillage.gr/etv/publication/download/panorama/5146_en.pdf [10 June 2009].
- Commonwealth of Australia. 2009. *Transforming Australia's higher education system* (Canberra, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR)). Available at:

- http://www.deewr.gov.au/HigherEducation/Pages/TransformingAustraliasHESystem.as px [22 May 2009].
- Cully, M. 2008. Working in harmony: The links between the labour market and the education and training market in Australia (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)), 28 May. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1993.html [28 April 2009].
- —. 2005. Employer-provided training: Findings from recent case studies At a glance (Adelaide, (NCVER), 8 Nov. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1636.html [11 June 2009].
- Curtis, D. 2009. *Student transfer: At a glance* (Adelaide, (NCVER), 12 June. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2144.html [15 June 2009].
- David, T. 1997. "Foreword", in P. Oberhuemer; M. Ulich (eds): *Working with young children in Europe: Provision and staff training* (London, Paul Chapman), p. viii.
- Dawkins, J. 2009. *Speech* at the Australian Higher Education Congress, Sydney, 24 Mar. 2009.
- Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR). 2008a. *Finance* 2007 *Financial reports of higher education providers* (Canberra). Available at: http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/higher_education/publications_resources/profiles/Finance_2007_stats.htm [13 Oct. 2008].
- —. 2008b. Students 2007 [full year]: Selected higher education statistics (Canberra). Available at: http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/higher_education/publications_resources/profiles/Stude nts_2007_full_year_.htm [22 Nov. 2009].
- Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST). 2007a. *AQTF 2007: Essential standards for registration* (Canberra), June. Available at: http://www.training.com.au/AQTF2007/ [10 June 2009].
- —. 2007b. Students 2006 [full year]: Selected higher education statistics (Canberra). Available at: http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/higher_education/publications_resources/profiles/Stude nts_2007_full_year_.htm [22 Nov. 2009].
- —. 2007c. *Training package development handbook* (Canberra), Sep. Available at: http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/training_skills/publications_resources/profiles/Training_Package_Development_Handbook.htm [12 June 2009].
- —. 2003. The role of national qualifications systems in promoting lifelong learning: Background report for Australia (Canberra).
- Finn, B. (Chair). 1991. Young people's participation in post-compulsory education and training: Report of the Australian Education Council Review Committee (Canberra, AGPS). Available at: http://www.voced.edu.au/docs/dest/TD_LMR_85_641.pdf [2 Aug. 2009].
- Foley, P. 2007. *The socio-economic status of vocational education and training students in Australia* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1690.html [7 Apr. 2009].

- Foster, S.; Delaney, B.; Bateman, A.; Dyson, C. 2007. *Higher-level vocational education and training qualifications: Their importance in today's training market* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)), Dec. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1798.html [7 May 2008].
- Gillard, J. 2009a. *National Public Education Forum Speech*, by Hon. J. Gillard MP, Australian Government Minister for Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR), Public Education Forum, Canberra, 27 Mar. 2009. Available at: http://www.deewr.gov.au/Ministers/Gillard/Media/Speeches/Pages/Article_090327_17 3128.aspx [27 Mar. 2009].
- —. 2009b. A resilient Australia, Address to the Sydney Institute, Sydney, 19 Feb. 2009. Available at: http://www.deewr.gov.au/Ministers/Gillard/Media/Speeches/Pages/Article_090220_08 5242.aspx [4 May 2009].
- —. 2009c. Speech at the Big Skills Conference, Darling Harbour, Sydney, 5 Mar. 2009. Available at: http://www.deewr.gov.au/Ministers/Gillard/Media/Speeches/Pages/Article_090304_15 5721.aspx [5 Mar. 2009].
- —. 2009d. Speech to the Universities Australia Conference, Canberra, 4 Mar. Available at: http://www.deewr.gov.au/Ministers/Gillard/Media/Speeches/Pages/Article_090304_15 5721.aspx [4 Mar. 2009].
- —. 2008. Speech to the Australian Industry Group, 8 Dec. Available at: http://www.deewr.gov.au/Ministers/Gillard/Media/Speeches/Pages/Article_081208_16 0434.aspx [4 May 2009].
- Goozee, G. 2001. *The development of TAFE in Australia*, 3rd Edition (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)).
- Guthrie, H. 2009. Competence and competency based training: What the literature says (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)). Available at: http://www.nqc.tvetaustralia.com.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/47940/CBT_literature _review_Occasional_paper_FINAL.pdf [13 Mar. 2009].
- Hall, P.A.; Soskice, D. 2001. "An introduction to varieties of capitalism", in P.A. Hall;
 D. Soskice (eds): *Varieties of capitalism The institutional foundations of comparative advantage* (Oxford, Oxford University Press), pp. 1-68.
- Hart, J. 2005. *National qualifications frameworks as credit accumulation and transfer systems* (Pretoria, South African Qualifications Authority (SAQA), Nov. Available in: http://www.saqa.org.za/ [13 June 2009].
- Hoeckel, K.; Field, S.; Justesen, T.R.; Kim, M. 2008. *Learning for jobs: OECD reviews of vocational education and training* (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)), Nov. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/27/11/41631383.pdf [12 June 2009].
- Jarvis, D.S.L. 2007. "Risk, globalisation and the State: A critical appraisal of Ulrich Beck and the world risk society thesis ", in *Global Society*, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 23-46.

- Kangan, M. 1974. *TAFE in Australia: Report on needs in technical and further education* (Canberra, Australian Committee on Technical and Further Education (ACOTAFE)).
- Karmel, T. 2009a. *Global skills crunch: A case of dog eat dog?* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVEER), 13 Mar. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2107.html [13 Mar. 2009].
- —. 2009b. *Reflections on the tertiary education sector in Australia* (Adelaide, NCVEER). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2115.html [23 May 2009].
- —. 2008a. A peripatetic research perspective on older workers and VET (Adelaide, NCVEER), 22 Jan. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1939.html [12 June 2009].
- —. 2008b. What has been happening to vocational education and training diplomas and advanced diplomas? (Adelaide, NCVEER), 23 Dec. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2090.html [9 Feb. 2009].
- —.; Cully, M. 2009. *The demand for training*, (Adelaide, NCVEER), 27 Feb. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2124.html [27 Feb. 2009].
- Karmel, T.; Mlotkowski, P.; Awodeyi, T. 2008. *Is VET vocational? The relevance of training to the occupations of vocational education and training graduates* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVEER)). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2013.html [10 June 2009].
- Keating, J. 2008a. *Matching supply and demand for skills: International perspectives* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVEER)), June. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/vetcontext/publications/2000.html [10 June 2009].
- —. 2008b. Qualifications systems and national qualifications frameworks, paper presented at the Monash University-ACER Centre for the Economics of Education and Training Annual Conference, Melbourne, 31 Oct. 2008. Available at: http://www.education.monash.edu/centres/ceet/docs/conferencepapers/2008jackkeating. pdf [8 June 2009].
- —. 2006. "Post-school articulation in Australia: A case of unresolved tensions", in *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, Vol. 30, No. 1, pp. 59-74.
- —. 2003. "Qualifications frameworks in Australia", in *Journal of Education and Work*, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 271-288.
- —. 2000. *Qualifications frameworks in Britain and Australia A comparative note* (Melbourne, RMIT University), Jan.
- Knight, B.; Mlotkowski, P. 2009. *An overview of vocational education and training in Australia and its links to the labour market* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)), 3 Mar. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2117.html [13 Mar. 2009].
- Lim, H. 2008. *The impact of mutual obligation on Mature Age NewStart Allowance recipients: A program evaluation* (Canberra, National Centre for Social and Economic Modelling (NATSEM), University of Canberra), Dec.

- Marginson, S. 1997. *Educating Australia: Government, economy and citizen since 1960* (Melbourne, Cambridge University Press).
- Martin, L.H. (Chair). 1964. Australian Universities Commission, Committee on the Future of Tertiary Education in Australia Report (Canberra, Government Printer).
- Mayer, E. (Chair). 1992. *Putting general education to work: The key competencies report* (Melbourne, Australian Education Council). Available at: http://www.voced.edu.au/docs/dest/TD_LMR_85_658.pdf [2 Aug. 2009].
- Ministerial Council for Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA). 2009. *National report on schooling in Australia 2005* (Melbourne).
- —. 2007. *National protocols for higher education approval processes* (Canberra). Available at: http://www.mceetya.edu.au/mceetya/default.asp?id=15212 [23 Feb. 2009].
- —. 2005. Good practice principles for credit transfer and articulation from VET to Higher Education (Canberra), 13 May. http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/higher_education/policy_issues_reviews/key_issues/ass uring_quality_in_higher_education/good_practice.htm [2 Aug. 2009].
- Moodie, G. 2009. Bradley on VET: The implications of the final report of the review of Australian higher education for the future of work in vocational education and training, paper presented at the Australian Education Union 2009 National TAFE Council Annual General Meeting, Melbourne, 14 Jan. 2009.
- —. 2008. From vocational to higher education: An international perspective (Berkshire, England, Open University Press).
- —. 2005a. *Reverse transfer in Australia*, paper presented at the 14th National VET research conference, Wodonga Institute of TAFE, 8 July 2005. Available at: http://www.griffith.edu.au//vc/staff/moodie/pdf/05ncverpaper1.pdf [18 Feb. 2006].
- —. 2005b. Roles of sectors in mass higher education: A study of effects of sectors on student transfer and national innovation, unpublished PhD thesis (Armidale, University of New England).
- —. 2004. "Reverse transfer in Australia", in *International Journal of Training Research*, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 24-48.
- —. 2003. VET-higher ed transfers and the structure of tertiary education, paper presented at The Changing Face of VET, Australian Vocational Education and Training Research Association Conference, Sydney, 9-11 Apr.
- National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER). 2008a. 2006 VET in Schools Statistics: A report for the Ministerial Council on Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA) Secretariat: Draft report 1 (Adelaide), 10 Oct. Available at: http://www.mceetya.edu.au/verve/_resources/2006_MCEETYA_VET_in_Schools_report.pdf [8 Mar. 2009].
- —. 2008b. *Australian vocational education and training statistics: Employers' use and views of the VET system 2007* (Adelaide), 16 Jan. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/statistics/surveys/seuv07/su07030.pdf [23 Nov. 2009].

- —. 2008c. Australian vocational education and training statistics: Students and courses 2007 (Adelaide). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/statistics/vet/ann07/students_courses2007.pdf [25 Mar. 2009].
- Noonan, P. 2003. *Credit Matrix initial design: Final report* (Melbourne, Victorian Qualifications Authority (VQA)), Sep. Available at: http://www.eduweb.vic.gov.au/edulibrary/public/voced/Accreditation/Courses/Cmatrix _initial_designreport.pdf [23 Nov. 2009].
- Noonan, P.; Bateman, A.; Gillis, S.; Keating, J. 2004. *Credit Matrix draft model, final report: Volume One* (Melbourne, Victorian Qualifications Authority (VQA)). Available at: http://www.eduweb.vic.gov.au/edulibrary/public/voced/Accreditation/Courses/CMdrft modelVOL1.pdf [23 Nov. 2009].
- PhillipsKPA. 2006a. A national study to improve outcomes in credit transfer and articulation from vocational and technical education to higher education: Final report (Canberra, Department of Education Science and Training (DEST)), June.
- —. 2006b. Stage 1 Report: National study to improve outcomes in credit transfer and articulation from vocational and technical education to higher education (Canberra, DEST), Jan.
- —. 2006c. Stage 2 Report: Case studies: National study to improve outcomes in credit transfer and articulation from vocational and technical education to higher education (Canberra, DEST), Apr.
- Pocock, B. 2009. Low-paid workers, changing patterns of work and life, and participation in vocational education and training: A discussion starter (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2104.html [13 Mar. 2009].
- Polesel, J. 2008. "Democratising the curriculum or training the children of the poor: Schoolbased vocational training in Australia", in *Journal of Education Policy*, Vol. 23, No. 6, pp. 615-632.
- Priestley, M. 2002. "Global discourses and national reconstruction: The impact of globalization on curriculum policy", in *The Curriculum Journal*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 121-138.
- Productivity Commission. 2009. *Report on Government Services 2009* (Canberra, Productivity Commission), 30 Jan. Available at: http://www.pc.gov.au/gsp/reports/rogs/2009 [13 Feb. 2009].
- Raffe, D. 2005. "National qualifications frameworks as integrated qualifications frameworks" in *SAQA Bulletin*, Vol. 8, No. 1, (Pretoria, South African Qualifications Authority (SAQA)), Nov. Available at: http://www.saqa.org.za/ [13 Feb. 2009].
- —. 2002. Bringing academic education and vocational training closer together, Working Paper No. 5, Centre for Educational Sociology (CES) (Edinburgh, University of Edinburgh). Available at: http://www.ed.ac.uk/ces/IUS/IUS_papers.html [9 Mar. 2003].

- Raffe, D.; Howieson, C.; Croxford, L. 1994. "The third face of modules: Gendered patterns of participation and progress in Scottish vocational education", in *British Journal of Education and Work*, Vol. 7, pp. 87-104.
- Ridoutt, L., Hummel, K., Dutneal, R.; Selby Smith, C. 2005a. *The place of recognised qualifications in the outcomes of training* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1569.html [27 July 2009].
- Ridoutt, L.; Selby Smith, C.; Hummel, K.; Cheang, C. 2005b. *What value do Australian employers give to qualifications?* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1553.html [27 July 2009].
- Ross, J. 2008. "A discriminating revolution: Why VET and HE are divided", in *Campus Review*, 1, 4 (Sydney), 8 Dec. 2008. Available at: http://www.campusreview.com.au/pages/section/article.php?s=News&idArticle=6107 [15 June 2009].
- Rudd, K. 2009. *COAG secures a compact with young Australians*, Prime Minister of Australia Media Release (Canberra), 30 Apr. Available at: http://www.pm.gov.au/media/Release/2009/media_release_0942.cfm [12 June 2009].
- Ryan, R. 2008. "Evidence free policy", in *Campus Review*, 11 (Sydney). Available at: http://www.campusreview.com.au/pages/section/article.php?s=VET&idArticle=5917 [15 June 2009].
- Ryan, C.; Watson, L. 2004. *The drift to Private Schools in Australia: Understanding its features.* Centre for Economic Policy Research Discussion Paper No. 479 (Canberra, Australian National University). Available at: http://econrsss.anu.edu.au/pdf/DP479.pdf [10 June 2009].
- Santiago, P.; Tremblay, K.; Basri, E.; Arnal, E. 2008. *Tertiary education for the knowledge society Volume 1 Special features: Governance, funding, quality* (Paris, Organization for Economic Development and Cooperation (OECD).
- Schofield, K.; McDonald, R. 2004. *Moving on... Report of the high level review of training packages* (Brisbane, Australian National Training Authority (ANTA)), Apr.
- Schofield, K.; McDonald, R.; Leary, C. 2004. *High level review of training packages: Working Paper 5: Training Package Qualifications*(Brisbane, Australian National Training Authority (ANTA)). Available at: http://antapubs.dest.gov.au/publications/pubBundle.asp?qsID=40 [10 June 2009].
- Smith, E.; Keating, J. 2003. From training reform to training packages (Tuggerah, Social Science Press).
- Stanwick, J. 2009. *Employer engagement with vocational education and training in Australia* (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2135.html [9 Apr. 2009].
- —. 2006. *Outcomes from higher-level vocational education and training qualifications* (Adelaide, NCVER). Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/1702.html [10 June 2009].

- Teese, R. 2000. *Academic success and social power: Examinations and inequality* (Carlton South, Melbourne University Press).
- Teese, R.; Robinson, L.; Lamb, S.; Mason, K. 2006. *The 2005 on track longitudinal survey: The destinations of 2003 school leavers in Victoria two years on* (Melbourne, Office of Learning and Teaching, Department of Education and Training). Available at: http://www.sofweb.vic.edu.au/voced/ontrack/default.htm [10 June 2009].
- Tuck, R. 2007. An introductory guide to national qualifications frameworks: Conceptual and practical issues for policy makers, Skills and Employability Department (Geneva, International Labour Office (ILO)).
- van Wanrooy, B.; Oxenbridge, S.; Buchanan, J.; Jakubau, M. 2007. *Australia at work: The benchmark report* (Sydney, University of Sydney, Workplace Research Centre). Available at: http://www.wrc.org.au/free-download.php?did=6&sid=1381 [30 Apr. 2009].
- Watson, L. 2000. Survey of private providers in Australian higher education 1999 (Canberra, Evaluations and Investigations Program, Higher Education Division, Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs), June. Available at: http://www.dest.gov.au/archive/highered/eippubs/eip00_4/survey.pdf [8 Mar. 2009].
- Wheelahan, L. 2009a. "The limits of competency-based training and the implications for work", in J. Field; J. Gallacher; R. Ingram (eds): *Researching transitions in lifelong learning* (London, Routledge).
- —. 2009b. "Market design and contestable funding" in *Campus Review* (Sydney), 2 Feb, pp. 18-19.
- —. 2009c. What kind of access does VET provide to higher education for low SES students? Not a lot. Paper presented at the "Student equity in higher education: What we know. What we need to know", National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education, University of South Australia, 25-26 Feb. Available at: http://www.unisa.edu.au/hawkeinstitute/events/default.asp [10 Mar. 2009].
- Wheelahan, L.; Dennis, N.; Firth, J.; Miller, P.; Newton, D.; Pascoe, S.; Veenker, P. 2002. *Recognition of prior learning: Policy and practice in Australia,* report commissioned by the Australian Qualifications Framework (Lismore, Southern Cross University), 25 Oct. Available at: http://www98.griffith.edu.au/dspace/handle/10072/16707 [10 June 2009).
- Wheelahan, L.; Moodie, G.; Billett, S.; Kelly, A. 2009. Higher education in TAFE, NCVER Monograph Series 01/2009 (Adelaide, National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER), 3 Sep. 2009. Available at: http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2167.html [23 Nov. 2009].
- Young, M. 2008. "Towards a European qualifications framework: Some cautionary observations" in *Journal of European Industrial Training*, Vol. 32, No. 2/3, pp. 128-137.
- —. 2005. National qualifications frameworks: Their feasibility for effective implementation in developing countries, Skills and Employability Working Paper No. 22 (Geneva, International Labour Organization (ILO)).

- —. 2003. "Comparing approaches to the role of qualifications in the promotion of lifelong learning", in *European Journal of Education*, Vol. 38, No. 2, pp. 199-211.
- —. 2001. The role of national qualifications frameworks in promoting lifelong learning, Discussion paper, (Paris, Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)).
- Young, M.; Allais, S. 2009. *NQF research: Conceptualizing the role of qualifications in education reform*, Discussion Document (Geneva, International Labour Organization (ILO)), 31 Mar.

Appendix: Key dates and events in Australia

Date	What happened
1965	Colleges of Advanced Education (CAEs) established as a separate higher education sector (Martin 1964).
	Sectoral funding and policies henceforth determined on the basis that the Commonwealth had responsibility for higher education (particularly funding), while the State Governments had responsibility for everything else. Sectoral policies designed to avoid 'cost-shifting' from one level of government to the other, thus entrenching sectoral differences.
1974	Report of the 'Kangan Committee' led to the recognition of TAFE (Technical and Further Education) by the Commonwealth as a national tertiary education sector. Its funding and administration was still primarily a responsibility of State Governments, although Commonwealth funding for TAFE starts to increase. The Kangan Committee 'provided the philosophical and policy basis for the development of a distinctive identity for the technical and further education system in Australia' (Anderson 1998, p. 3). The Kangan Committee (1974, p. xxvi) defined TAFE broadly to include vocational preparation, and education that led to the development of the person 'as a member of society, including the development of non vocational and social skills that affect personality'.
1977	Commonwealth Tertiary Education Commission (CTEC) established which brought the Universities Council, the Advanced Education Council and the Technical and Further Education Council (TAPEC) together as sub-councils under the CTEC umbrella (Goozee 2001).
1975-82	Period of growth for TAFE as Kangan Committee recommendations were implemented, along with greater investment in capital and recurrent funding. TAFE's 'golden age' (idem, p. 38).
Late 1970s & early 1980s	Labour market programmes established which aimed to reduce the unemployment rate for 15-19 year olds (idem, p. 53).
Mid-1980s	Departments of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Treasury, Finance, Industry Technology and Commerce, and Science start to take an interest in tertiary education and in aligning higher education and TAFE with the economy and employment outcomes.
1987	Australia Reconstructed published. It was a joint publication of the Australian Council for Trade Unions (ACTU) and the Trade Development Council based on a joint mission they had undertaken to Western Europe. Its emphasis was on skills and the role of education in making Australia more productive and competitive internationally, and in aligning training reform with industry restructuring. It is a key touchstone for reforms that followed.
1988	The 'Dawkins' reforms commence – John Dawkins was the Labor Minister for Employment, Education and Training. This included:
	 creation of a unified <i>university</i> sector through merging universities and colleges of advanced education; TAFE strongly oriented to training for work and subordinated to the economy. Dawkins issues a paper that says that TAFE needs to move from a 'time-served' system to a competency-based system, and that it needs to focus more on industry-based formal training (idem, p. 67).
1988	The Higher Education Contribution Scheme (HECS) was introduced in universities. It is an income-contingent loan for students to pay fees (which were regulated by government). The fees that students are required to pay are increased in ensuing

Date	What happened
	years.
1988	National Board for Employment, Education and Training (NBEET) established which included four councils: The Schools Council; The Higher Education Council; The Employment and Skills Formation Council (ESFC); The Australian Research Council. Goozee (idem, p. 65) says 'Although NBEET and its councils seemed to have adequate representation from the higher education and schools sector, representation from the TAFE sector was noticeably lacking.' Unlike CTEC, which had statutory powers, NBEET's role was purely advisory, which was 'clearly an assertion of ministerial power' (idem, p. 69). NBEET survives until the end of 1998 when it was dismantled by the Conservative Australian Government (NBEET was established by a Labor Government). Apart from the AQF (which was established in 1995) there is now no body with
	responsibility for advising government on cross-sectoral issues. NBEET had produced a number of research reports on the desirability of student articulation and credit-transfer.
1990	The National Training Board (NTB) is established with responsibility for developing and endorsing national competency standards. At this stage, competency-based training (CBT) is linked to industry classifications in occupations and industry awards and industrial agreements (idem, p. 68). This link between CBT and industrial awards and agreements was severed when the Conservative Commonwealth Government came to power in 1996 so that it could not be used as a bargaining chip in industrial award negotiations, although the link between occupations and CBT was maintained.
1990-92	Commonwealth and State Governments agree to establish the 'National Framework for the Recognition of Training' (NFROT). Its purpose was to provide a national framework to accredit VET courses, determine credit-transfer between them, and for RPL and assessment of competencies (idem, p. 81). This laid the basis for the national recognition of VET qualifications and for CBT as the basis of VET qualifications.
1991	The Finn report calls for higher levels of school retention, greater alignment between education and work and key competencies (idem, p. 81).
1992	The Mayer Committee report defines 'key competencies' as necessary for work, but also 'for effective participation in further education and adult life more generally' (cited in Goozee 2001, p. 82). These are revised in the mid-2000s in VET as 'employability skills' and are more tightly tied to enterprises and the workplace.
1992	The Carmichael Report recommends establishment of 'a competency-based Australian Vocational Certificate System' (idem, p. 83).
1992–94	Labor Prime Minister, Paul Keating, threatens to set up his own national VET system in parallel to the States' VET systems if the states do not agree to a Commonwealth takeover of funding and control of TAFE (idem, p. 84). This stance was softened, and as a compromise, the <i>Australian National Training Authority (ANTA)</i> was established in 1994. ANTA was a partnership between the Commonwealth Government and the State and Territory Governments, and it had its own ministerial council. It was based on the principle of 'co-operative federalism', which means that all levels of government putatively co-operated with each other in setting policy for VET. ANTA takes over responsibility for funding national <i>Industry Training Advisory Bodies</i> (ITABS).

Date	What happened
1993	The National Competition Policy Report (the Hilmer Report) is published, which recommends policies to create markets in all areas of public provision. Goozee (2001, p. 91) explains: 'Although legal advice from Commonwealth and State Attorney-generals concluded that VET did not come within the scope of national competition policy, it did have an impact on national and State VET policies, particularly the putting of public funds out to tender.' Policies that establish VET as a market are further developed in the years that follow.
1993-95	Australian and State Government Education Ministers agree to the establishment of the <i>Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF)</i> , which was established in 1995. The AQF lists all qualifications that are accredited in the senior schools, VET and higher education sectors respectively. The AQF replaced the 'Major National Tertiary Course Award levels established by the Register of Australian Tertiary Education' (idem, p. 88). When the AQF was established, there were 12 qualifications but there are now 15 with the addition of associate degrees as higher education qualifications in 2004 and VET graduate diplomas and certificates in 2005 (AQFAB 2007).
1996	Australian and State Education Ministers agree to establish the National Training System which replaces NFROT. It had two main components: <i>Training Packages</i> , which consisted of qualifications based on units of competency, and the <i>Australian Recognition Framework</i> , which guaranteed national recognition of all competency outcomes in training packages at all VET institutions by all other VET institutions throughout the country, and specified the criteria VET providers were required to meet in delivering and assessing VET qualifications. TAFE more clearly starts to become one 'provider' in a broader, marketized VET system that includes private providers.
1997	The first <i>Training Packages</i> are introduced and become the mandated model of VET qualifications in Australia.
	The Ministerial Council for Education, Employment Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA), which includes all relevant ministers from the Australian and State and Territory Governments, endorses the MCEETYA <i>National Protocols for Higher Education Approval Processes</i> . These are updated in 2006. They include principles, criteria and processes for:
2000	 registering non-university higher-education providers and accrediting their courses;
	 awarding self-accrediting authority to non-university higher-education providers;
	 establishing new universities; and, approving overseas higher-education institutions seeking to operate in
	Australia.
2000	The Australian Universities Quality Agency (AUQA) is established. Its purpose is to: 'promote, audit, and report on quality assurance in Australian higher education'.
2001	The Australian Recognition Framework (ARF) in VET is replaced by the <i>Australian Quality Training Framework (AQTF)</i> , which is revised in 2005, and again in 2007. It was introduced in part in response to concerns about quality in the apprenticeship and traineeship systems in the States. It contained standards that VET institutions were required to meet to become 'Registered Training Organisations' (RTOs), and standards that the State Training and Accreditation Authorities were required to meet in registering training organizations (Smith and Keating 2003, p. 48).
2003	ITABS are replaced by Industry Skills Councils (ISCs), which have responsibility for developing training packages.
2005	ANTA is dismantled by the Conservative Australian Government based on principles of uncooperative federalism, and responsibilities of ANTA are administered through the (then) Commonwealth Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST). A new ministerial council is established to oversee national coordination of VET – the

Date	What happened
	Ministerial Council for Vocational and Technical Education (MCVTE). The conservative government implements the <i>National Skills Framework</i> , which replaces the National Training Framework, with the key elements (training packages and the AQTF) still in place, and the national governance and administrative arrangements are strengthened in favour of the Commonwealth and marketization principles in VET are further developed.
2007	The conservative government is defeated in national elections after 11 years of conservative rule and replaced by a Labor Government.
2008	The Australian Government undertakes the Review of Australian Higher Education (the Bradley Review). Many of the recommendations are adopted, and they have far reaching consequences for VET. They include the creation of a new ministerial council called the Ministerial Council for Tertiary Education and Employment (MCTEE). MCTEE replaces MCVTE. It has responsibility for all tertiary education which includes VET, higher education, adult and community education, international education and the AQF.
	The Government will establish a new Tertiary Education Standards and Quality Authority which will first have responsibility for higher education (by 2010) and then for VET (by 2013).
	The AQF Council is established in 2008 and a review is undertaken to develop a more 'robust' AQF.
	The Council of Australian Governments (COAG), which consists of the Prime Minister and all the Premiers, who are the elected leaders of the States and Territories, develop 'human capital' reforms, and in many ways supplant MCTEE as the decisión-making body for VET.
	The Australian Government decides to implement a student voucher for higher education by 2012, and is, together with the States through COAG, trying to put 'fully contestable market' arrangements in place for VET. The Victorian State Government introduces a student voucher for its higher-level VET programmes which students can redeem at public or private VET institutions, and it plans to extend these to lower-level VET qualifications. It is likely that most States will follow similar arrangements over time.

Skills and Employabilty Department

For more information visit our site: http://www.ilo.org/skills

International Labour Office Skills and Employability Department 4, route des Morillons CH-1211 Geneva 22

Email: empskills@ilo.org